Wright State University CORE Scholar

Browse all Theses and Dissertations

Theses and Dissertations

2014

Effects of Delayed Pharmacological Treatment and Limb Rehabilitation on Infarct Size and Functional Recovery After Stroke

Maria Helen Harley Balch Wright State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://corescholar.libraries.wright.edu/etd_all

Part of the Anatomy Commons

Repository Citation

Balch, Maria Helen Harley, "Effects of Delayed Pharmacological Treatment and Limb Rehabilitation on Infarct Size and Functional Recovery After Stroke" (2014). *Browse all Theses and Dissertations*. 1241. https://corescholar.libraries.wright.edu/etd_all/1241

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses and Dissertations at CORE Scholar. It has been accepted for inclusion in Browse all Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of CORE Scholar. For more information, please contact library-corescholar@wright.edu.

EFFECTS OF DELAYED PHARMACOLOGICAL TREATMENT AND LIMB REHABILITATION ON INFARCT SIZE AND FUNCTIONAL RECOVERY AFTER STROKE

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

By

MARIA HELEN HARLEY BALCH B.A., Cedarville University, 2008

2014 Wright State University

WRIGHT STATE UNIVERSITY

GRADUATE SCHOOL

JUNE 3, 2014

I HEREBY RECOMMEND THAT THE THESIS PREPARED UNDER MY SUPERVISION BY <u>Maria Helen Harley Balch</u> ENTITLED <u>Effects of Delayed</u> <u>Pharmacological Treatment and Limb Rehabilitation on Infarct Size and Functional</u> <u>Recovery After Stroke BE ACCEPTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE</u> <u>REQUIREMENT FOR THE DEGREE OF Master of Science</u>.

> Adrian Corbett, Ph.D. Thesis Director

Timothy Cope, Ph.D. Department Chair Department of Neuroscience, Cell Biology and Physiology

Committee on Final Examination

Debra Mayes, Ph.D.

Robert Putnam, Ph.D.

Robert E. W. Fyffe, Ph.D. Vice President for Research and Dean of the Graduate School

ABSTRACT

Balch, Maria Helen Harley. M.S., Department of Neuroscience, Cell Biology, and Physiology, Wright State University, 2014. Effects of Delayed Pharmacological Treatment and Limb Rehabilitation on Infarct Size and Functional Recovery After Stroke.

Previous studies show a fluoxetine/simvastatin drug combination successfully reduced infarct size and increased functional recovery when administered 20-26 hours post-stroke. This project tested the hypothesis that earlier drug delivery at 6-12 hours post-stroke will improve functional recovery and decrease infarct size, and that limb rehabilitation will improve functional recovery.

Pre-stroke function was determined in rats, a stroke was induced, and daily treatment began 6-12 hours post-stroke. Baseline functional deficit was established, and additional testing over 90 days monitored functional recovery. Limb rehabilitation was provided for designated animals, and brain analysis measured infarct size.

In animals with no rehabilitation, drug treatment provided better recovery; with rehabilitation, recovery was similar whether animals received drug treatment or not, suggesting a drug treatment could replace rehabilitation if needed. Larger infarcts were also present with earlier drug delivery, implying the possibility of hemorrhagic transformation due to earlier induction of VEGF expression by our drug combination.

iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. INTRODUCTION	
Stroke	
Types of Stroke	
Current Pharmacological Treatment for Stroke	
Endogenous tPA	5
Rehabilitation and Stroke	
Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor (BDNF)	7
Adult Neurogenesis	
Stroke Research	9
Animal Model	
Induction Model	
Pharmacological Treatment Design	
Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors (SSRIs) and Strok	e14
Fluoxetine	15
Statins and Stroke	
Simvastatin	
Simvastatin and tPA	20
Pre-Stroke Exposure to Statins	
Ideal Drug Combination	
Hypothesis	
Specific Aims	
II. MATERIALS AND METHODS	
Pre-Stroke Training	
Diet Restriction	
Sucrose Pellets	
Stroke Induction	
Pre-operative Care	
Surgical Procedure	
Post-Operative Care	
Post-Stroke Treatment	
Pharmacological Treatment	
Treatment: Drug-Treated Rats	
Treatment: Control Rats	
Limb Rehabilitation	
Post-Stroke Functional Testing	
Calculation of Baseline Functional Deficit	41
Charting Functional Recovery	

Infarct Analysis	44
Euthanization	44
Cryostat Sectioning of Brain Tissue	45
Slide Preparation	45
Tissue Mounting	45
Staining	46
Image Capture Using SPOT Scope	46
Creating Image Montages	46
Measuring Infarct Volume	47
Infarct Volume Calculations	47
III. RESULTS	
Pre- and Post-Stroke Analysis	48
Pre-Stroke Analysis	48
Post-Stroke Analysis	52
Experiment 1	52
Presented Deficits	53
Functional Recovery	56
Bilateral Deficits	56
Total Recovery	57
Infarct Volume	66
Experiment 2	69
Presented Deficits	69
Functional Recovery	75
Contralateral Recovery	75
Infarct Volume	81
Combined Data	
Presented Deficits	84
Functional Recovery	87
Contralateral Recovery	
Infarct Volume	93
IV. DISCUSSION	97
Results Summary	97
Effects of Drug Combination and Limb Rehabilitation on Functional Recovery	97
Functional Recovery: Without Rehabilitation	97
Functional Recovery: With Rehabilitation	98
Functional Recovery: Comparison of All Experimental Groups	
Functional Recovery: Gray Matter versus White Matter Recovery	
Lack of Correlation Between Infarct Size and Functional Recovery	100
Measuring UII of Bregma	102
russiule explainationis of Larger Innarcus	102
Secondary Hemorrhagic Stroke	103 103
secondary momentumatic ou one	

Future Experiments	116
Repeat This Study	116
Drug Administration at 20-26 Hours Post-Stroke Plus Rehabilitation Component	116
Change Drug Duration	117
Lengthen Study to Better Determine Rehabilitative Effects	117
Measure Infarct Size Throughout Study	118
Use of Other Stains	118
Employing Somatosensory Tests	118
Conclusions	119
REFERENCES	. 121

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	26
Figure 2.	29
Figure 3.	
Figure 4.	42
Figure 5.	
Figure 6.	64
Figure 7	67
Figure 8.	73
Figure 9	77
Figure 10	79
Figure 11.	82
Figure 12	85
Figure 13.	
Figure 14.	91
Figure 15.	95
Figure 16	104
Figure 17	
Figure 18.	
Figure 19.	110
Figure 20	112

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	
Table 2.	
Table 3.	
Table 4.	
Table 5.	60
Table 6.	
Table 7.	71

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Many wonderful people have made this project possible. Dr. Adrian Corbett has been a wonderful mentor, and I have thoroughly enjoyed conducting my research with her. We have had lots of laughs along the way, and she has taught me much in the realm of stroke research. I would also like to thank members of the Corbett lab. Work is certainly easier when you're in the company of good people, and our lab has always surrounded me with just such a caliber of individuals.

Dr. Robert Putnam and Dr. Debra Mayes also deserve my gratitude. They, along with Dr. Corbett, comprised my thesis committee, and their feedback was truly invaluable. Dr. Mayes' help in understanding VEGF was tremendously helpful, and her encouragement and advice were greatly appreciated. Dr. Putnam also taught me how to "dumb things down for mere mortals," and I thank him for that.

Wright State University's Department of Neuroscience, Cell Biology, and Physiology, the Anatomy Master's program, and the faculty have taught me much and I am sincerely thankful to have interacted with such magnificent people at Wright State University.

Lastly, I owe a great deal to my family. The encouragement and support of my husband have carried me, not only through every class or hour of lab work at school, but also through every moment I studied or wrote from home. A big thank you also goes out to my family and friends, who tried their very hardest to be encouraging – despite having not a single clue as to what I was talking about.

ix

For my loving husband

I. INTRODUCTION

STROKE

Every forty seconds, someone in the United States has a stroke (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC): National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion (NCCDPHP), Division for Heart Disease and Stroke Prevention (DHDSP), 2013). Strokes affect nearly 795,000 people each year, and 610,000 of those cases occur in patients who have not previously had a stroke (CDC: NCCDPHP, DHDSP, 2013). Census data analysis suggests that incidence of stroke each year will double by 2050 (Howard and Goff, 2012). Stroke is also a leading cause of serious long-term disability in the United States (CDC: NCCDPHP, DHDSP. 2013; Go *et al*, 2014). When accounting for healthcare expenses, cost of medications, and lost productivity, studies estimate the national annual cost of stroke at \$38.6 billion (CDC: NCCDPHP, DHDSP, 2013).

The fourth leading cause of death (Towfighi and Saver, 2011; Murphy *et al*, 2013), strokes kill almost 130,000 Americans each year (CDC: NCCDPHP, DHDSP, 2013). Approximately one out of every 19 deaths is caused by a stroke (Go *et al*, 2014), with someone dying of a stroke every four minutes (CDC: NCCDPHP, DHDSP, 2013). In addition, the Acute Cerebrovascular Care in Emergency Stroke Systems (ACCESS)

study reported that only half of the American population has timely access to a primary stroke center (PSC) (Albright *et al*, 2010).

Stroke clearly stands as one of the most significant health issues in the United States (Hall *et al*, 2012). Injury following a stroke develops via a multifaceted sequence of pathophysiological events (Dirnagl *et al*, 1999). In order to comprehend these events and develop treatment options, the immediate and post-stroke conditions within the brain and the associated mechanisms must be understood (Hossmann, 2006). Stroke research provides a means to reach this understanding and is thus essential to the health of the country.

Types of Stroke

There are two major types of stroke: ischemic and hemorrhagic. Both types of stroke, whether caused by a clot or bleeding, can result in damage and death of cells in the brain.

Ischemic strokes account for 87 percent of stroke cases (American Heart Association (AHA)/American Stroke Association (ASA), 2012) and occur when a vessel that supplies blood to the brain is blocked by a clot. Ischemic strokes can be either thrombolic – where a clot forms within a vessel in the brain – or embolic – where a clot forms in a vessel elsewhere in the body and moves to the brain (National Stroke Association, 2014b).

Unlike ischemic strokes, hemorrhagic strokes do not involve a blood clot. Instead, a vessel bursts or leaks, causing damage and increased pressure on brain tissue. Aneurysms are ballooning regions of weak-walled blood vessels, while arteriovenous

malformations (AVMs) are clusters of abnormally-formed vessels (AHA/ASA, 2012). Both aneurysms and AVMs are capable of rupturing and causing hemorrhagic strokes. When a ruptured vessel bleeds into the brain, the event is called an intracerebral hemorrhagic stroke. Conversely, when a ruptured vessel bleeds outside of the brain into the subarachnoid space, the event is called a subarachnoid hemorrhagic stroke (National Stroke Association, 2013).

In addition to ischemic and hemorrhagic strokes, transient ischemic strokes (TIAs), also known as mini-strokes, can occur. TIAs exhibit similar symptoms as ischemic strokes, but the effects are brief because the clot only temporarily blocks the vessel (AHA/ASA, 2012).

Current Pharmacological Treatment for Stroke

Recombinant tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) was approved for use treating ischemic stroke in 1996 (Zivin, 2009) and remains the only Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved treatment for stroke (AHA/ASA, 2013). Blood clots form when activated platelets aggregate onto fibrin threads. Plasmin is a protease capable of breaking down the fibrin meshes via fibrinolysis. The inactive form, plasminogen, must be activated by a plasminogen activator (PA). One such PA is tPA. Because timely reperfusion is imperative to save the ischemic brain tissue (Zhang *et al*, 2012), recombinant tPA was developed as a pharmacological treatment for ischemic stroke (National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS), 1995), acting by breaking down the clot and resulting in recanalization of the previously-occluded blood vessel (Gravanis and Tsirka, 2008).

A precise window of administration exists when using tPA, as a patient must present to the hospital for treatment within three hours post-stroke (Clark *et al*, 1999; Hacke *et al*, 2004; NINDS, 1995) (up to four-and-one-half hours in certain qualifying patients) (Stemer and Lyden, 2010). If the three-hour post-stroke treatment window has passed, a patient is considered ineligible to receive the drug. Unfortunately, this is often the case with patients because they are unable to recognize the symptoms or arrive at a hospital in time (Y. Li *et al*, 2014). Though previously-reported national averages for patients receiving tPA treatment vary (AHA, 2009; Reeves *et al*, 2005), it is estimated that less than five percent of ischemic stroke patients are able to be treated with tPA (California Pacific Medical Center, 2013).

tPA administration is time-sensitive because of the possibility of hemorrhagic transformation, or secondary bleeding after an initial ischemic stroke has occurred (Jickling *et al*, 2014; Chapman *et al*, 2014; National Stroke Association, 2014a). Some studies suggest harmful effects of tPA arise beyond the approximate three-hour post-stroke mark because of its ability to activate matrix metallo-proteinase-9 (MMP-9), which is an enzyme that degrades extracellular matrix (ECM) components (Zhao *et al*, 2004) and contributes to blood-brain barrier (BBB) breakdown (Chaturvedi and Kaczmarek, 2013). Other studies suggest involvement of low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor-related protein (LRP) (Yepes *et al*, 2003) or that both LRP and MMP-9 mediators contribute to hemorrhagic transformation with tPA (Ortolano and Spuch, 2013). Mast cell degranulation and caspase-8 have also been investigated as mediators of tPA toxicity (Ishrat *et al*, 2012). Many studies speak to the importance of understanding the deleterious effects of tPA on cytotoxicity, cerebral edema, neurovascular unit

permeability, and intracranial bleeding (Armstead *et al*, 2006; Sappino *et al*, 1993; Yepes *et al*, 2009). Regardless of the mechanism, it is clear that the undeniable thrombolytic benefits of tPA are compromised due to administration restrictions and possible brain hemorrhage, thus making it available to only a small minority of patients.

It has been stated that the argument whether tPA should be considered neuroprotective or neurotoxic could continue indefinitely (Gravanis and Tsirka, 2008). Evidence is certainly shown for both cases. Research is aimed at the goal of treating more ischemic stroke patients with tPA. Combination therapies coupling tPA with other neuroprotective agents are being tested and explore mediators such as MMP inhibitors, LRP antagonists, mast cell stabilizers, platelet inhibition, free radical scavengers, neuroserpin, and estrogen therapy. These studies have shown a reduction in vascular damage or hemorrhagic transformation and, therefore, suggest tPA use can continue, more patients can benefit, and negative side effects can be avoided (Ishrat *et al*, 2012; Zhang *et al*, 2012). Studies are also attempting to identify ways to accurately predict the risk of hemorrhagic transformation in ischemic stroke patients (Shinoyama *et al*, 2013).

Endogenous tPA

While recombinant tPA was developed as a pharmacological treatment for ischemic stroke (NINDS, 1995), tPA itself is produced naturally in the human body. It is expressed in both developing and mature brain tissue in neurons and microglia. Besides its role in fibrinolysis and preservation of nonthrombogenic vascular surfaces (Bednar and Gross, 1999; Lucking *et al*, 2013), it is suggested that endogenous tPA mediates

neuronal death and microglial activation following excitotoxic injury as well (Ishrat *et al*, 2012).

Research has shown that cerebral ischemia increases levels of endogenous tPA (Copin *et al*, 2011), and this increase induces opening of the BBB (Yepes *et al*, 2003). While normal tPA production may be a function of all endothelium (Ishrat *et al*, 2012), the origin of tPA in brain tissue after injury to the brain is not well described (Zhao *et al*, 2004).

As previously discussed, tPA administration presents with the risk of hemorrhagic transformation. Some publications propose endogenous tPA contributes to hemorrhagic transformation by enhancing MMP-9 expression or proteolytic activation (Tang *et al*, 2010; Umemura, 2005). However, the precise involvement of endogenous tPA in hemorrhagic transformation is unclear.

Rehabilitation and Stroke

Because stroke is the leading cause of adult disability in the United States, rehabilitation therapy for stroke patients is of utmost importance. Occupational therapy assists with relearning everyday activities, and speech language pathology helps patients rebuild speaking skills. Because depression, frustration, and anxiety are commonly observed in stroke patients, psychological treatment may also be involved. Of all available therapies, physical therapy is considered the cornerstone of the rehabilitation process and aims to restore movement, balance, and coordination (NINDS, National Institute of Health (NIH), 2014).

Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor (BDNF)

Neurotrophins are a family of growth factors associated with neuronal growth and survival (Miller and Kaplan, 2001). One such neurotrophin, BDNF, is widely distributed in the central nervous system (Binder and Scharfman, 2004). In addition to stimulating neurogenesis (Schäbitz *et al*, 2007), BDNF promotes neuroplasticity (Madinier *et al*, 2013) and assists with learning and memory (Bekinschtein *et al*, 2008; Binder and Scharfman 2004; Ploughman *et al*, 2009). Aside from its function in supporting existing neurons, BDNF also appears to play a crucial part in brain injury and recovery.

A gradual increase in astrocytic expression of neurotrophic factors has been observed in the brain after ischemic injury. Studies suggest this increase may protect these brain regions from further damage and facilitate brain repair (Kleim *et al*, 2003). Specifically, BDNF initiates anti-apoptotic mechanisms, reduces infarct size, and decreases instance of secondary neuronal cell death (Schäbitz *et al*, 2007).

After an ischemic event, rehabilitation is necessary to support brain plasticity (Kleim *et al*, 2003). While neuroplasticity engages multiple signaling pathways, BDNF has been shown to play a critical role in motor learning and recovery through rehabilitation post-stroke (Mang *et al*, 2013; Ploughman *et al*, 2009). Following stroke, forced use and rehabilitation of an impaired limb improves functional recovery (Livingston-Thomas *et al*, 2014), and, in turn, stimulates increases of BDNF in the brain (MacLellan *et al*, 2011). Interestingly, exercise independent of ischemic injury also results in increased levels of BDNF as well as other defenses against cell death (MacLellan *et al*, 2011; Ploughman *et al*, 2009).

Adult Neurogenesis

The term neurogenesis refers to the growth and development of new neurons. This process is most active during embryonic development, and until 1962, it was believed the adult nervous system was fixed, incapable of regeneration. However, it is now known that neurogenesis can occur at two locations in the adult brain: the subventricular zone (SVZ), lining the lateral ventricles, and the subgranular zone, forming part of the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus (Mandal, 2014; Nogueira *et al*, 2014). A resident population of neural progenitor cells provides the source of new neurons (Elder *et al*, 2006).

A microtubule-associated protein (MAP) known as doublecortin (DCX) assists with the young neuronal migration into cortical layers of the brain during embryological development. DCX expression in areas with extended neuronal recruitment allows this endogenous protein to be used as a marker for adult neurogenesis (Vellema *et al*, 2014).

Stroke has been shown to trigger neurogenesis, not only in the SVZ for example, but also in areas of the brain that do not exhibit neurogenesis under normal conditions. It is possible that radial microglia are involved with guiding migration of neuroblasts to the ischemic brain tissue. There is also evidence that neurogenesis is linked to angiogenesis (Seki *et al*, 2011), which is the process that forms new blood vessel branches from existing vessels (Mayes, 2006).

The hope of assisting cell replacement after an ischemic event has directed some stroke research to focus on drug therapy that may stimulate neurogenesis.

STROKE RESEARCH

Because stroke persists as one of the most substantial health issues today (Hall *et al*, 2012), much research centers on developing pharmacological treatments for stroke. With ischemic stroke accounting for almost 90 percent of strokes (AHA/ASA, 2012), and with a narrow – and many times unreachable – window for tPA administration (Clark *et al*, 1999; Hacke *et al*, 2004; NINDS, 1995), a treatment option available after three hours post-stroke is ideal.

Animal Model

When developing an animal model for ischemic stroke research, features similar to those in humans must be considered so the outcomes can be addressed with the least possible limitations. Biological factors, physiological reactions, and pathological implications must be reviewed (Casals *et al*, 2011).

The most relevant animal models for stroke research are rodents or lagomorphs, such as rabbits (Casals *et al*, 2011). Rats and mice are most often used (Howells *et al*, 2010), as their cerebrovasculature closely matches that of higher organisms (Ginsberg and Busto, 1989). Rodents also present similar Circle of Willis collateralization and variation to that found in humans (Howells *et al*, 2010; Mergenthaler and Meisel, 2012). This is an important consideration when understanding how the brain responds to stroke induction, depending on the method used, and how the brain responds to treatment.

Previous studies in our laboratory found that Sprague Dawley rats had better blood vessel collateralization than the Long Evans strain. When the same amount of endothelin was injected into both rat strains, a much smaller infarct was produced in the

Sprague Dawley strain, suggesting there is better blood vessel collateralization in the cortex.

Earlier studies in our laboratory used Long Evans rats. It was noted, however, that their blood vessel collateralization does not closely match that in humans. In Long-Evans rats, endothelin was injected to either side of the forelimb motor cortex, causing injury but not complete infarction of this important center. With our drug treatment, fast recovery of forelimb motor function was observed within 30 days, most likely because the tissue was only injured rather than killed. In addition to these noted concerns, data suggest that Long Evans rats may be more susceptible to damage in the hemisphere contralateral to the injury site than are Sprague Dawley rats (Tan *et al*, 2009).

Sprague Dawley rats are now used in our laboratory instead because they much more closely match human brain collateralization. To address the recovery matter, the location of stroke induction was changed to destroy the forelimb motor cortex itself rather than affect the tissue surrounding it. A lasting deficit is now attainable in an animal model that more closely relates to humans; this should provide a better translational approach.

Our rat subjects are all female because the male rats are >60 g heavier than the females (Casals *et al*, 2011) and will not fit in the functional test apparatus (Montoya Staircase, Lafayette Industries; 400 g limit). The female rats used in this study, at 10 to 12 months of age, weighed approximately 320-385 g.

Though no single animal model can fully represent the variables affecting human ischemic stroke patients (Bacigaluppi *et al*, 2010; Howells *et al*, 2010), studies suggest the lack of translation lies not completely with the choice of animal model but in how

such models and their resultant data are applied (Howells *et al*, 2010). Most often, stroke research is conducted using young animals. However, human stroke patients are typically elderly and may present other health concerns (Bacigaluppi *et al*, 2010; Casals *et al*, 2011). In addition, young brains react differently to stroke (Casals *et al*, 2011). Our study sought to eliminate this limitation by using older animals, aged 10 to 12 months, which is approximately middle-aged for a rodent.

Induction Model

Several induction models have been introduced in stroke research. Many of the models are successful in following the condition found with human stroke patients in relation to large artery occlusion. Still, other models result in extremely large infarcts that may not imitate instances of the most common, treatable human strokes (Carmichael, 2005). With human ischemic strokes typically only affecting approximately 5% of total brain volume (Brott *et al*, 1989), it is important to find a model that best matches human ischemic stroke.

Most frequently used is mechanical occlusion of the proximal middle cerebral artery (MCA) (pMCAo). This large-vessel occlusion produces a large infarct and is usually achieved by inserting a silicon-coated nylon suture into the internal carotid artery to the circle of Willis to occlude the MCA at its source. For a more restricted occlusion of superficial vessels, mechanical occlusion of the distal MCA (dMCAo) can be performed. This small-vessel occlusion is accomplished by exposing and altering superficial MCA branches via a craniotomy (Bacigaluppi *et al*, 2010). One study showed most MCAo models produce infarcts between 21-45% of the affected cerebral

hemisphere, and the dMCAo model specifically produces smaller infarcts than the pMCAo model, with infarct sizes of approximately 14-25% of the affected hemisphere. Still, these models more closely mimic large-volume or hemorrhagic strokes in humans rather than typical ischemic stroke when reviewing infarct size (Carmichael, 2005).

Another model for stroke induction involves intravenous injection of a photosensitive dye. Once injected, photothrombosis is induced when the brain is illuminated trans-cranially and the irradiated tissue coagulates. While this model can produce precise small strokes (Bacigaluppi *et al*, 2010), the dye itself can damage the endothelium (Carmichael, 2005). In the case where a drug that targets endothelial cells is being studied for use in stroke treatment, this model would not be appropriate.

Cerebral veins and sinus thrombosis (CVT) is a disorder affecting younger adults or children more often than arterial stroke. A model for inducing CVT involves occluding the superior sagittal sinus, mechanically or thermally damaging the superior sagittal sinus, or photothrombosis of the dorsal cerebral veins (Bacigaluppi *et al*, 2010). Because this study seeks to research the most common instance of ischemic stroke in humans, this model is not fitting.

Some models have been designed to specifically mimic the effects of an arterial blockage by a blood clot. Thrombotic occlusion is obtained by injecting blood clots, thrombin, or synthetic macrospheres into the MCA or internal carotid artery to produce a large infarct like that of permanent pMCAo. To produce smaller, multifocal infarcts, synthetic microspheres can be used. However, the high variability in infarct size and results associated with this model have caused a lack of translation to human stroke (Bacigaluppi *et al*, 2010).

Other approaches have been developed in order to gain more control over the size of the infarct produced. Injecting the potent vasoconstrictor endothelin intracerebrally produces a focal ischemic infarct by severely reducing blood flow to the affected area. Though it can be more difficult to precisely localize the lesion, the endothelin model for producing focal ischemia is easier, faster, and technically simpler than other rat stroke models (Bacigaluppi *et al*, 2010).

Our study employs the endothelin model for stroke induction. Endothelin's vasocontrictive mechanism induces a stroke in approximately 30 minutes, with lasting effects for 24 hours before the vasoconstriction releases (Windle *et al*, 2006). A sure consequence of stroke is neurodegeneration, which appears early in this model (Wolinski and Glabinski, 2013). This method has also proven to be easily performed and reproducible in rats (Bacigaluppi *et al*, 2010). Because of the ability to produce smaller, more controlled infarcts, in addition to its ease of use, confirmed repeatability, and accuracy in generating ischemic stroke, the endothelin model was chosen for our study.

PHARMACOLOGICAL TREATMENT DESIGN

In order to propose a delayed pharmacological treatment for stroke, several standards must be established. The individual drugs involved, the proper dosage of each drug, and the ideal timeframe for drug delivery post-stroke must all be defined.

Previous studies in our laboratory have reviewed combinations of fluoxetine, simvastatin, and ascorbic acid in hopes of optimizing the dose of essential constituents (Corbett *et al*, 2013). Combination therapies have proven to be more effective than a single drug in treating many health concerns, from depression (Blier *et al*, 2010) to cancer (F. Li *et al*, 2014), and from diabetes (Tosi *et al*, 2003) to human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) (Pakker *et al*, 1998). There was already work in the literature showing that fluoxetine alone (Schäbitz *et al*, 2007) and simvastatin alone (Rodríguez-Yáñez *et al*, 2008) increase neurogenesis, but no one had ever tested the combination. Information on each drug, its class, and the final drug combination is presented below.

Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors (SSRIs) and Stroke

Fluoxetine belongs to a group of drugs known as SSRIs. SSRIs act to treat depression by inhibiting presynaptic reuptake of serotonin. This inhibition increases the availability of serotonin at the synaptic cleft (Costagliola *et al*, 2008).

In addition to its ability to help manage depression, SSRIs may improve recovery after stroke. SSRIs appear to improve neurological impairment and disability; this finding holds true even in patients who are not depressed (Mead *et al*, 2012). Additionally, SSRIs inhibit platelet aggregation, decrease ischemic risk, protect against inflammatory neurotoxicity, and stimulate neuroplasticity, neurogenesis, and angiogenesis (Rao and Andrade, 2011).

Many antidepressants have been reviewed for their ability to treat depression and, separately, to assist with stroke recovery. For the treatment of depression alone, studies compared the use of fluoxetine to that of other SSRIs, tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs), and heterocyclic and related antidepressants. Significant differences surfaced regarding the efficacy and tolerability of the drugs reviewed for depression treatment, but the study concluded uncertainties in the application, and no clinical implications could be drawn (Cipriani *et al*, 2005; Magni *et al*, 2013). However, another study compared the use of SSRIs to TCAs for stroke treatment and found that SSRIs significantly reduced the risk

of stroke as compared with TCAs (Lee *et al*, 2013). While certain antidepressants did not stand out against others in terms of treatment for depression, SSRIs presented obvious benefits for stroke recovery.

Fluoxetine

When evaluating SSRIs for stroke treatment, studies have used fluoxetine, sertraline, paroxetine, citalopram, or escitalopram (Mead *et al*, 2013b). Although it seems acceptable that all SSRIs would have similar effects, most of the stroke research using SSRIs has been conducted using fluoxetine (Rao and Andrade, 2011).

Fluoxetine crosses the BBB (Warren, 2012) and increases expression of BDNF, which plays a role in cognitive recovery (Liu *et al*, 2013) and neurogenesis (Schäbitz *et al*, 2007). Fluoxetine also greatly improves motor recovery with ischemic stroke patients (Chollet *et al*, 2011; Chollet *et al*, 2013; Marquez-Romero *et al*, 2013) and results in less disability (Cramer, 2011). Studies have followed patients through their recovery and have seen enhanced motor improvement after three months post-stroke (Chollet *et al*, 2011; Cramer, 2011). Such mechanisms are believed to involve modulation of brain plasticity (Chollet *et al*, 2011).

Furthermore, neuroprotective effects accompanied the advances in motor recovery. Fluoxetine's neuroprotection may be associated with its anti-inflammatory effects. Microglial activation, expression of proinflammatory markers, and neutrophil infiltration were all suppressed in brain tissue after being treated with fluoxetine poststroke, suggesting that fluoxetine protects the brain against ischemic injury (Lim *et al*, 2009).

In addition to neurogenesis promotion via BDNF, anti-inflammatory effects, and reduced motor cortex excitability, fluoxetine may act by inducing expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). VEGF is a mediator of neurogenesis, neuroprotection, and angiogenesis after ischemia. By upregulating VEGF – an action specific to SSRIs, as TCAs do not affect the VEGF pathway – fluoxetine facilitates other avenues of brain recovery after stroke (Gaillard and Mir, 2001).

Some debate exists regarding the efficacy of fluoxetine at different doses (Zhu BG. et al, 2012) as well as possible risks and interactions. SSRIs block serotonin uptake by platelets, which impairs the platelet hemostatic response. Some have expressed concern about a possible increase in bleeding risk when used as stroke treatment. However, only epidemiologic studies of gastrointestinal bleeding have been performed, and the study concluded that the data are too limited to permit interpretations about influences on stroke (Andrade et al, 2010). Additionally, there are postulated interactions of fluoxetine with other drugs. Studies suggest fluoxetine interacts with the anticoagulant warfarin, which is prescribed to prevent blood clot formation (Dent and Orrock, 1997); the anticonvulsant diazepam, which is prescribed for patients who experience seizures after a stroke (Dent and Orrock, 1997); and the antiplatelet drug clopidogrel, which is often prescribed after a stroke for secondary prevention (Gonzenbach et al, 2011), or efforts used to prevent future stroke in a patient who has already had a stroke. Unfortunately, most of these interactions are not well defined or established (Dent and Orrock, 1997; Gonzenbach et al, 2011).

Studies suggest larger trials will help determine whether post-stroke SSRI administration should be routine (Mead *et al*, 2012; Mead *et al*, 2013a). Current clinical

trials using fluoxetine to study the implications of SSRI use in stroke recovery include Fluoxetine or Control Under Supervision (FOCUS) in the United Kingdom, Assessment oF FluoxetINe In sTroke recoverY (AFFINITY) in Australia, and Efficacy oF Fluoxetine - a randomisEd Controlled Trial in Stroke (EFFECTS) in Sweden (Mead *et al*, 2013a).

Statins and Stroke

Simvastatin belongs to a group of drugs called statins. Statins help lower cholesterol by inhibiting the enzyme 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase, which catalyzes a rate-limiting step in the biosynthesis of cholesterol. By reducing levels of LDL cholesterol in plasma, statins serve to decrease cardiovascular risk (Hernández-Perera *et al*, 1998).

In addition to their role in cholesterol metabolism, studies suggest statins possess cholesterol-independent pleiotropic effects that improve endothelial function, inhibit thrombogenic response, stabilize atherosclerotic plaques, and decrease inflammation and oxidative stress (Liao and Laufs, 2005). Statins also provide neuroprotection against ischemic injury, making them an important candidate in stroke treatment (Hernández-Perera *et al*, 1998; Miedema *et al*, 2010; Stepień *et al*, 2005).

Though the neuroprotective mechanisms of statins are only partially understood (Sierra *et al*, 2011), it is believed that changes in inflammation, platelet aggregation, immune response, glutamate metabolism, and apoptosis are involved (Rodríguez-Yáñez *et al*, 2008). Statins provide protection against ischemic injury by upregulating endogenous tPA (Asahi *et al*, 2005). Statins have also been shown to protect against vascular remodeling, an adaptive process that can negatively contribute to vascular

pathophysiology (Dzau and Gibbons, 1993), by suppressing the Rho/Rho-kinase pathway (Ma *et al*, 2012). Inhibition of isoprenoids, which serve as lipid attachments for intracellular signaling molecules, may also mediate some of the pleiotropic effects (Liao and Laufs, 2005).

Moreover, statins promote angiogenesis, formation of new synapses, and neurogenesis (Rodríguez-Yáñez *et al*, 2008). One avenue through which statins initiate neurogenesis and protect against ischemic injury is by upregulating endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) (Asahi *et al*, 2005; Mital *et al*, 2000). Nitric oxide (NO) is normally produced in the brain by the neuronal isoform of NOS and negatively regulates precursor cell proliferation. However, in the injured brain, NO overproduction actually promotes neurogenesis (Estrada and Murillo-Carretero, 2005).

Recent studies show statins consistently reduce the risk of ischemic stroke in patients (Tuttolomondo *et al*, 2014) and are recommended to lower the risk of stroke recurrence or other vascular events after an ischemic stroke (X. Li *et al*, 2012). Statins have also been shown to support neurovascular recovery and improve neurological outcome after intracerebral hemorrhage (Yang *et al*, 2012).

Simvastatin

Studies have reviewed all statins in order to determine which statin works best to protect the brain. The nine statins can be divided into three categories: natural or fungus-derived, semi-synthetic, and synthetic. Data show the natural and semi-synthetic statins, also known as monacolin J derivatives, are the best contenders for preventing neurodegeneration. Reasons for this conclusion include a higher potential for BBB

penetration, the safe manner in which they lower cholesterol in neurons, and observations regarding protection against cell death in culture. Of the nine total statins, simvastatin, also a monacolin J derivative, presented as the best option for preventing neurodegenerative conditions (Sierra *et al*, 2011).

Because simvastatin is lipophilic (Thelen *et al*, 2006), it can easily cross the BBB (Wood *et al*, 2010) and is more likely to passively diffuse into endothelial cells than hydrophilic statins (Zhu M. *et al*, 2012). These properties explain why use of simvastatin has resulted in improving the function of ischemia-disturbed BBBs (Jiang *et al*, 2012). In addition, simvastatin increases BDNF expression (Yang *et al*, 2012), which, as previously discussed, works in neuroprotection and reduction of infarct size (Kleim *et al*, 2003; Schäbitz *et al*, 2007). Simvastatin also upregulates VEGF, which initiates angiogenesis (Wu *et al*, 2008).

In ischemic stroke, high extracellular levels of glutamate overstimulate glutamate receptors. This overstimulation causes calcium entry into neurons through N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs), which is a central influence of neuronal excitotoxicity. Simvastatin has been shown to significantly decrease infarct area after ischemia and increase expression of protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A). PP2A is a family of serine-threonine phosphatases controlling multiple cellular processes through negative signal regulation, including suppression of NMDARs, thus aiding in protection against neuronal excitotoxicity (Zhu M. *et al*, 2012).

Simvastatin is believed to influence vascular tone by moderating endothelial vasoactive factor expression (Hernández-Perera *et al*, 1998). Simvastatin also increases

eNOS activity (McGirt *et al*, 2002), and, as noted earlier, NO overproduction promotes neurogenesis (Estrada and Murillo-Carretero, 2005).

Simvastatin and tPA

Clinical benefits are observed when administering simvastatin alone or when coupling simvastatin with tPA. When used together, simvastatin increases the therapeutic window for tPA and encourages neuroprotection (Lapchak and Han, 2010).

Though some benefits exist, combining simvastatin with tPA is a controversial topic. Some studies suggest a possible increase in the risk of hemorrhagic transformation when combining simvastatin with tPA (Laloux, 2014; Scheitz *et al*, 2014), while others state that simvastatin reduces tPA-induced hemorrhage (Lapchak and Han, 2010), decreases neurovascular unit dysfunction (Zhang *et al*, 2012), and produces no increase in hemorrhagic transformation risk (Campos *et al*, 2013). The proper dose of simvastatin with tPA and window of administration has not yet been determined (Lapchak and Han, 2010).

Pre-Stroke Exposure to Statins

Pre-stroke statin exposure trends toward improved results in ischemic stroke patients. While patients taking statins did have less severe strokes, the effects were not significantly different. Nevertheless, results suggest a tendency toward lower stroke severity and improved outcomes short-term post-stroke (Phipps *et al*, 2013).

Ideal Drug Combination

Because of its pleiotropic actions that improve the disturbed BBB (Jiang *et al*, 2012), increase BDNF expression (Yang *et al*, 2012), upregulate eNOS activity (McGirt *et al*, 2002), promote neurogenesis (Estrada and Murillo-Carretero, 2005), and aid in neuroprotection and infarct size reduction (Kleim *et al*, 2003; Schäbitz *et al*, 2007), simvastatin was chosen as a component in this study's drug combination.

Similarly, fluoxetine was chosen for use in our study due to its ability to stimulate neurogenesis through BDNF expression (Liu *et al*, 2013; Schäbitz *et al*, 2007), improve motor recovery (Chollet *et al*, 2011; Chollet *et al*, 2013; Marquez-Romero *et al*, 2013), promote anti-inflammatory effects (Lim *et al*, 2009), and enhance neuroprotection and angiogenesis through VEGF expression (Gaillard and Mir, 2001).

Because simvastatin and the eNOS enzyme are both easily oxidized, and because ascorbic acid is an antioxidant that should help retain normal function in both substances, asborbic acid was originally reviewed as a possible component of the combination. However, it was later discovered that the major filler in simvastatin is already ascorbic acid, so simvastatin and fluoxetine together proved to be the desired combination.

The drug combination used in this study was 5 mg/kg fluoxetine, 1 mg/kg simvastatin. In the "fluoxetine for motor recovery after acute ischaemic stroke (FLAME)" clinical trial, a dose of 20 mg fluoxetine was administered post-stroke (Chollet *et al*, 2011), which corresponds to an approximate dose in rats of 2.5 mg/kg (Reagan-Shaw *et al*, 2007). In humans, a patient is typically started at a dose of 20 mg fluoxetine; the dose is later increased as needed. Our laboratory's rat dose of 5 mg/kg fluoxetine correlates to a human dose of approximately 40 mg/kg, which is well within

the normal human dose range of 20-80 mg for this drug (Rx List, 2014a). Two rat doses of simvastatin have been used in our laboratory's studies: 0.5 mg/kg and 1 mg/kg. These rat doses correlate to approximate human doses of 5 mg or 10 mg respectively. These doses are well within the normal human dose range of 5-40 mg for this drug (Rx List, 2014b).

With the individual drugs comprising the combination outlined and the proper dosage of each drug defined, the ideal timeframe for drug delivery post-stroke must be established.

HYPOTHESIS

A previous study noted success with the fluoxetine/simvastatin drug combination in reducing infarct size and increasing functional recovery when delivered 20-26 hours post-stroke (Corbett *et al*, 2013). This study seeks to test the hypothesis that earlier drug delivery will improve functional recovery and decrease infarct size by determining the effects of the fluoxetine/simvastatin drug combination when administered at 6-12 hours post-stroke. This study also seeks to test the hypothesis that limb rehabilitation will improve functional recovery.

SPECIFIC AIMS

The focus of this study is to determine the effects of the earlier fluoxetine/simvastatin drug combination delivery on functional recovery and infarct size as well as define the effects of limb rehabilitation on functional recovery. This work aims to help identify the prime window of drug delivery for optimum effects on increasing functional recovery and reducing infarct volume in the ischemic brain.

Two experiments were preformed to test the hypotheses. Experiment 1 reviewed earlier drug delivery at 6-12 hours post-stroke. No rehabilitation was included in Experiment 1. Two groups of animals were defined in this portion of the study: drug-treated and control.

Experiment 2 reviewed earlier drug delivery at 6-12 hours post-stroke as well, using the same drug combination and dosage as Experiment 1. Additionally, Experiment 2 included and reviewed a rehabilitation component. Four groups of animals were defined in this portion of the study: drug-treated with rehabilitation, drug-treated without rehabilitation, control with rehabilitation, and control without rehabilitation.

To test the hypothesis that earlier drug delivery will improve functional recovery, pre-stroke function can be established for all animals using the Montoya staircase functional grasping test. After stroke induction, the animals can be retested to establish a baseline functional deficit. Following treatment for 90 days, the functional assessment data will quantify functional recovery, which will be compared between the drug-treated and control animals to determine whether earlier drug delivery improves functional recovery. After euthanasia and brain tissue analysis, infarct volume can be calculated for each animal. Comparison of infarct size in drug-treated animals to control animals will allow for testing of the hypothesis that earlier drug delivery will decrease infarct size. This process is followed in Experiment 1.

Like Experiment 1, Experiment 2 analyzes functional recovery and infarct volume. Unlike Experiment 1, Experiment 2 also tests the hypothesis that limb rehabilitation will increase functional recovery. In Experiment 2, certain control animals and certain drug-treated animals are given rehabilitation using reaching shelves outside

their cages. The functional recovery of drug-treated animals with rehabilitation can then be compared to that of drug-treated animals without rehabilitation; the functional recovery of control animals with rehabilitation can be compared to that of control animals without rehabilitation; and all animals receiving rehabilitation (regardless of drug treatment) can be compared to all animals not receiving rehabilitation. These comparisons will allow for the determination of whether rehabilitation increases functional recovery.

Infarct size and functional recovery data from Experiments 1 and 2 can also be analyzed to determine if a correlation exists between the two factors. In addition, the data from this study (Experiments 1 and 2), in which drug delivery is at 6-12 hours post-stroke, can be compared to the data from the previous study, in which drug delivery was at 20-26 hours post-stroke. This will provide valuable insight as to the optimum window for drug delivery and contribute to the current research aim of developing a treatment for stroke.

II. MATERIALS AND METHODS

All studies described in this paper were performed in accordance with protocols approved by the Wright State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC).

PRE-STROKE TRAINING

Female Sprague Dawley outbred retired breeder rats aged 10 to 12 months were trained on Montoya Staircases. The Montoya Staircase (Figure 1) is a functional test that presents food pellets on a bilateral set of stairs, requiring the rat to crawl onto a raised platform, extend its forelimbs at increasing distances to reach each stair, and grasp pellets to retrieve them (Montoya *et al*, 1991). Three sucrose pellets – some painted with maple extract – were placed in each of the wells (seven on each side) to total 21 pellets per side. Each animal was trained for 15 minutes on the Montoya Staircase and returned to its cage. Training occurred daily for one-and-one-half weeks during the dark cycle to best accommodate the animals' nocturnal circadian rhythm (Dauchy *et al*, 2010). Training data were collected to determine pre-stroke function. The number of pellets retrieved by each forepaw was measured, and the highest number recovered was noted as the pre-stroke function. By the end of training, animals must have been able to retrieve at least nine pellets with each forepaw to be included in the post-stroke analysis.
Figure 1.

The Montoya Staircase. (A) This schematic shows the Montoya Staircase, a functional forelimb reaching and grasping test for rats. The rat is placed inside a Plexiglas box with access to a raised platform that sits in the middle of a removable double staircase. The double staircase offers progressive levels of reaching difficulty and allows for the assessment of individual forelimb function (Montoya *et al*, 1991). (B) The photograph shows a rat performing the Montoya Staircase test.

<u>Figure 1.</u>



(A)





Diet Restriction

During training, the animals were placed on a restricted diet to optimize Montoya Staircase results. To measure the average amount of food eaten ad libitum by the rats, the food given to the animals the day after their arrival was weighed, and the food remaining after two days was weighed again. The animals were then fasted overnight and began Montoya Staircase training the next morning during the dark cycle. Their diet was restricted to 85% of their normal intake. To monitor their weight loss, the rats were weighed immediately prior to food restriction as well as every third day until the training period was complete. If the animals neared their goal weight loss of 15 percent, their daily food was increased to stabilize their weight. In general, most animals only lost five to 10 percent of their weight during the training period.

Sucrose Pellets

Sucrose pellets were used to encourage training (Figure 2A). Some of the sucrose pellets were painted with maple extract. A previous study in our laboratory found that painting all sucrose pellets with maple extract encouraged the rats to retrieve them (Figure 2B). However, this study determined that even if only some of the pellets are painted with maple extract, the rats are still encouraged to retrieve the pellets (Figure 2C).

Figure 2.

Figures showing data regarding how rats retrieved sucrose pellets painted with different degrees of maple extract. Thirteen trials were performed on the Montova Staircase where pellet retrieval was measured. The x-axis represents the trial number. The y-axis denotes percentage of pellets retrieved with the animal's preferred paw, meaning if an animal retrieved 20 pellets with the left forelimb and 21 pellets with the right forelimb, the right forelimb is considered the preferred paw and this number was used in our calculations. Data are presented according to number of pellets retrieved. The minimum number of pellets an animal had to retrieve with each forelimb to be contained in our study was nine of the 21 total pellets. Circles represent animals that retrieved 9-11 pellets. Triangles represent animals that retrieved 12-14 pellets. Squares represent animals that retrieved 15-17 pellets. Diamonds represent animals that retrieved 18-21 pellets. (A) This figure displays data from a previous study in the laboratory showing the control, where plain sucrose pellets were used and none were painted with maple extract. (B) This figure displays data from a previous study in the laboratory showing that animals retrieved more pellets if all of the sucrose pellets were painted with maple extract. (C) This figure displays data from our study showing that, even if only some of the sucrose pellets were painted with maple extract, animals were still encouraged to retrieve a higher number of pellets compared to the control.

Figure 2.

(A)



Control Sucrose Pellet Training

Maple Extract Pellet Training



STROKE INDUCTION

All animals in the study had stroke surgery. Strokes were induced under anesthesia using two injections of endothelin, a potent vasodilator, into the forelimb motor cortex of the right hemisphere. All animals had a stroke in the right hemisphere, which would affect the left forelimb, regardless of handedness or preferred paw consideration. Coordinates measured from bregma facilitated calculation of the forelimb motor cortex location.

A list of the substances administered during the course of the stroke induction has been compiled (Table 1).

Pre-operative Care

The animal was placed in an induction chamber with 5% isoflurane. Once under anesthesia, the animal was removed from the chamber, and its head was shaved. The animal was then placed on paper overlying a heating pad and positioned in a stereotactic device to stabilize its head. A gas mask supplied a constant flow of 2-3% isoflurane during the procedure. A foot-pinch withdrawal reflex was performed on the animal to ensure full anesthetization, and Puralube eye ointment was applied to keep the animal's eyes moist.

<u>Table 1.</u>

Table listing substances administered during the course of the stroke induction surgical procedure.

Table 1.

Substance	Concentration	Vehicle	Volume	Route	Notes
Isoflurane	5%	Oxygen		Inhalation	Surgical anesthetic induction
Isoflurane	2-3%	Oxygen		Inhalation	Surgical anesthetic maintenance
Puralube eye ointment				Topical	Preoperative; applied to eyes
Povidone- iodine				Topical	Preoperative: once to clean incision site, once to scrub incision site Postoperative: once to treat sutured incision site
Ethanol				Topical	Preoperative; once to clean incision site, performed between cleaning and scrubbing with povidone- iodine
Bupivacaine	0.25%	Water	0.15 ml		Analgesic
Endothelin	400 pmoles/µl	Water	1.5 μl/site	Cortical injection (2 mm depth)	Injected into each of two cortical sites during surgery to induce stroke
Sterile saline	Isotonic		2 ml	Subcutaneous injection	Postoperative

Surgical Procedure

The incision site was cleaned with povidone-iodine, cleaned with ethanol, and then scrubbed with povidone-iodine. A midline incision was made on the animal's head, and the edges of the incision were dabbed with bupivacaine. Bregma was then located on the animal's skull and marked with a fine-tip marker.

A small burr bit in a microdrill was aligned with bregma. Coordinate measurements were then used to determine the location of the forelimb motor cortex in the right hemisphere. The drill was moved anterior-posterior (AP) a distance of 0 mm and medial-lateral (ML) a distance of -2.5 mm from bregma to drill the first of two holes. To drill the second hole, the drill was moved AP +1.5 mm and ML -2.5 mm from bregma. The drill was removed and replaced with a Hamilton syringe containing endothelin, and 1.5 μ l of 400 pmoles/ μ l endothelin was injected over the course of several minutes into each site. The injection depth was 2.0 mm.

The incision was closed with resorbable sutures and treated again with povidone-iodine.

Post-Operative Care

A subcutaneous injection of 2 ml sterile saline was administered before placing the animal in its cage on a heated pad to recover from anesthesia. The animal was monitored until awake and moving, at which point it was returned, in its cage, to the animal rack. When the animal was moving around well, it was given moist chow on the floor of its cage. The animal was switched back to normal chow by post-stroke day 2.

34

POST-STROKE TREATMENT

Treatment after stroke induction involved both a pharmacological component and a rehabilitation component.

Pharmacological Treatment

Pharmacological treatment was provided in both Experiments 1 and 2. Treatment began 6-12 hours after stroke induction. Animals received either the vehicle only or the drug combination fully incorporated into the vehicle.

Because stress can influence neurogenesis among other physiological processes, it was crucial that stress associated with pharmacological treatment be reduced (Corbett *et al*, 2012). The vehicle used in this study was a 3-4 g ball of Pillsbury sugar cookie dough. This method provided a voluntary oral means for drug delivery and thus helped decrease stress on the animal (Corbett *et al*, 2012).

If an animal failed to ingest the cookie dough on three or more occasions, the animal was removed from the study.

No additional substances were administered to assist with post-operative pain control or recovery because non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and analgesic opioids can both influence neurogenesis (Goncalves *et al*, 2010; Hoehn *et al*, 2005; Sargeant *et al*, 2008). The infarct analysis aspect in this study depended on the effects of our drug combination on neurogenesis; therefore, it was imperative that neurogenesis not be modified by other drugs.

Treatment: Drug-Treated Rats

The drug combination consisted of 5 mg/kg fluoxetine and 1 mg/kg simvastatin. The powdered drug combination was fully incorporated into the cookie dough vehicle and placed in the animals' cages. Animals received the drug treatment once daily for 90 days following the stroke.

Treatment: Control Rats

Control rats received only the cookie dough vehicle beginning 6-12 hours post-stroke. They continued receiving the vehicle once daily for 90 days.

Limb Rehabilitation

Limb rehabilitation was provided in Experiment 2 only. The control rats were divided into two groups: control with rehabilitation and control without rehabilitation (Table 2). The drug-treated animals were also divided into two groups: drug-treated with rehabilitation and drug-treated without rehabilitation (Table 2).

Beginning on post-stroke day 8, a rehabilitation shelf containing peanut butter was hung every other night outside the rehabilitation animals' cages, and this was continued for five and one half weeks. The shelves were positioned in such a way so the animals could only use the contralateral forelimb (stroke-affected limb) to reach the peanut butter (Figure 3).

Table 2.

Table displaying how animals were grouped. Experiment 1: drug-treated and control. Experiment 2: drug-treated with rehabilitation, drug-treated without rehabilitation, control with rehabilitation, and control without rehabilitation.

Table 2.

Experiment 1: Rats 530-566		Experiment 2: Rats 600-637			
Group	Total Animals*	Group	Total Animals	Rehabilitation	No Rehabilitation
FS	18	FS	18	15	3
Control	18	Control	17	14	3
Died	1	Died	3		

*No animals in Experiment 1 received rehabilitation.

Figure 3.

Pictures of rehabilitation shelves. (A) This series of pictures shows varying degrees of peanut butter retrieval. Because of the shelf design, it was easy to measure whether an animal took no peanut butter, some peanut butter, or all of the peanut butter. (B) This picture shows a rat taking peanut butter while using the rehabilitation shelf.

Figure 3.

(A)



Hanging Shelf for Rehabilitation for Contralateral Forelimb

(B)

POST-STROKE FUNCTIONAL TESTING

After stroke induction, animals underwent a series of Montoya Staircase testing. Each set of testing days allowed for calculation of an initial baseline deficit and ultimately the measurement of functional recovery. Figure 4 displays a timeline of all events included in this study.

Calculation of Baseline Functional Deficit

The first set of post-stroke Montoya Staircase testing occurred daily on post-stroke days 3, 4, and 5. The number of pellets retrieved during this initial post-stroke functional evaluation allowed for the establishment of a baseline functional deficit. Both contralateral (affected by stroke) and ipsilateral retrieval was measured.

An animal's best performance during post-stroke days 3, 4, and 5 was divided by the animal's best performance from the pre-stroke training days; multiplying this figure by 100% produced the percentage of pre-stroke function the animal retained; subtracting this number from 100% produced the baseline percentage of functional deficit resulting from the stroke. The formulas and sample calculations are presented in Table 4.

Charting Functional Recovery

Additional series of Montoya Staircase testing charted functional recovery over time. A total of four testing series took place on post-stroke days 3-5, 29-31, 59-61, and 89-91.

Figure 4.

Timeline showing timing of details of this study. Events included two weeks of prestroke Montoya training, the stroke surgery, Montoya testing to establish baseline functional deficits at post-stroke days 3-5, and additional Montoya testing periods to chart functional recovery at post-stroke days 29-31, 59-61, and 89-91. If assigned to a rehabilitation group, animals received rehabilitation beginning on post-stroke 8 for five-and-one-half weeks.

Figure 4.



After 91 days, the best performance from post-stroke days 89, 90, and 91 can be divided by the best pre-stroke testing figure to give the final functional ability; multiplying this number by 100% gives the percent of functional ability; subtracting this number from 100% gives a final figure for functional deficit. Subtracting the resulting functional deficit from the original baseline functional deficit gives the percentage of pre-stroke function recovery.

All functional recovery calculations were performed for both contralateral (affected by stroke) and ipsilateral forelimbs.

INFARCT ANALYSIS

Euthanization

Animals were injected intraperitoneally with Euthasol (100 mg/kg sodium pentobarbital). Full anesthetization was confirmed with a foot-pinch withdrawal reflex test.

The animals were then exsanguinated. An incision was made to expose the heart. The apex of the heart was gently clamped with a hemostat. The apex was cut with scissors, and a blunt-edged cannula was inserted through the apex incision into the left ventricle at a depth deeper than the location of the hemostat. An incision was also made in the right atrium. The tissue was perfused first with 100 ml of phosphate buffered solution (PBS) and then fixed using a 4% paraformaldehyde in PBS.

After euthanization, the brain was removed and placed in 4% paraformaldehyde overnight followed by a 30% sucrose solution for three days.

44

Cryostat Sectioning of Brain Tissue

The tissue was set in Optimal Cutting Temperature (OCT) compound and frozen using a Peltier device on the cryostat. In approximately 30 minutes, equilibrium was reached between the tissue temperature and the chamber temperature. The frozen tissue was then placed in the cryostat and sliced at a thickness of 50 µm. Each slice was placed sequentially into one of four vials containing PBS, and the vials were labeled with the corresponding rat's identification number. The infarct analysis vial was used for this study; the remaining three vials were used for other work studying evidence of neurogenesis using expression of DCX and MAP 2.

Slide Preparation

In order to analyze the brain tissue, each slice was mounted on gel-subbed glass slides and stained with Cresyl Violet stain in anticipation of microscope examination.

Tissue Mounting

The vial containing an animal's brain slices for infarct analysis was dumped into a Petri dish and filled half-way with additional PBS. A glass slide was labeled with the corresponding rat's identification number, placed at an angle in the dish, and wetted with PBS. Using a small-tip paintbrush, tissue slices were mounted onto the slide. Once the slide was full, it was set aside to dry.

As the brain slices were mounted, care was taken to ensure the tissue was not folded or damaged.

Staining

After the tissue was dry, the slides were placed into slide racks. The tissue was stained using a Cresyl Violet (Nissl) stain composed of 2.5 g Cresyl Violet, 300 ml water, 30 ml 1 M sodium acetate, and 170 ml 1 M acetic acid. The stain and wash solutions were poured into a series of staining dishes in a chemical hood. The slices were then stained using a series of timed washes: Cresyl Violet stain for 15 minutes, distilled water for 5 minutes, 70% ethanol for 5 minutes, 95% ethanol for 5 minutes, two washes of 100% ethanol for 5 minutes each, and two washes of Xylene for 5 minutes each.

The slides were left in the slide racks in the hood to dry. After the stained tissue was dry, cover slips were placed over the tissue using DPX, a permanent mordant.

Image Capture Using SPOT Scope

The slides were analyzed using Wright State University's Microscopy Core Facility's Olympus Epi Fluorescence SPOT Scope with RT color camera. Slides were examined under brightfield using the 4x scan objective lens. SPOT software provided means to add calibration marks (200 μ m) and capture images of the damaged brain tissue in each brain slice.

Creating Image Montages

In cases where brain slices contained large areas of damage, multiple overlapping images were captured to record all damage. These images were merged into one large image using Adobe Photoshop.

Measuring Infarct Volume

Images were opened using ImageJ software. In ImageJ, the measuring tool was calibrated and used to measure infarct volume by tracing the area of damage and recording the listed measurement. This measurement gave infarct volume in mm³.

Infarct Volume Calculations

Because of the fact that every fourth slice (rather than every slice) of tissue was used for capturing infarct data, calculations were required to determine total infarct volume for each animal.

First, the infarct area for each individual tissue slice provided by ImageJ was multiplied by 0.05 because the tissue sections were 50 μ m (0.05 mm) thick; multiplying the area by the 0.05 mm thickness provided the total infarct volume for that slice. The slice volumes for each rat were then added together, and the sum was multiplied by 4 (because every fourth slice was used) to provide the infarct volume for a single rat.

III. RESULTS

PRE- AND POST-STROKE ANALYSIS

Data for this study were obtained from two separate experiments. Both experiments used the same drug combination, dosage, pre-stroke analysis, and post-stroke analysis.

Pre-Stroke Analysis

All animals received pre-stroke training using the Montoya Staircase daily for one-and-one-half weeks. Each animal was trained for 15 minutes and returned to its cage.

By counting the number of pellets retrieved by each animal during training period, pre-stroke function was established. This was important because it allowed for calculation of functional deficit and retained pre-stroke function after a stroke was induced. Animals that did not retrieve at least nine pellets with each forepaw did not meet training criteria and were therefore not used to obtain functional recovery data.

Pre-stroke Montoya training data were reviewed for animals that would receive rehabilitation (rehabilitation animals in Experiment 2) and animals that would not receive rehabilitation (non-rehabilitation animals for Experiment 2 plus all Experiment 1 animals). Figure 5 shows that the mean number of pellets retrieved out of 21 total pellets

48

with each forelimb ranged from 16-18 pellets. Even though animals did trend toward retrieving more pellets with their right forelimb, handedness was not an apparent issue because the numbers retrieved with each forelimb were very similar. There was a small significant difference between pre-stroke function of the right and left forelimb for those animals that eventually underwent post-stroke rehabilitation, but there was no significant difference in right and left forepaw performance in the animals that would receive no post-stroke rehabilitation.

Figure 5.

Figure displaying the performance by right and left forepaws for animals that were assigned into either the post-stroke rehabilitation group (Experiment 2) or the post-stroke non-rehabilitation group (Experiments 1 and 2). The maximum number of pellets that could be retrieved by either forepaw was 21 pellets. The right forepaw retrieved significantly more pellets in the group that eventually underwent post-stroke rehabilitation (ANOVA, p= 0.002; Tukey post-hoc test). No significant difference existed between right and left forepaw retrieval of the animals that did not eventually receive rehabilitation.

Figure 5.



Montoya Staircase Training Pre-stroke

Post-Stroke Analysis

After stroke induction, animals in the drug-treated group received 5 mg/kg fluoxetine and 1 mg/kg simvastatin via a sugar cookie dough vehicle. Animals in the control group received the vehicle only. Drug/vehicle administration took place once daily for 90 days post-stroke.

A Montoya Staircase functional test was performed at post-stroke days 3-5. This data allowed us to establish a baseline deficit for each animal that met pre-stroke training criteria. This also allowed us to determine if the animal exhibited a contralateral forelimb deficit, a bilateral deficit, or no deficit.

Additional Montoya Staircase functional tests were performed at post-stroke days 29-31 (simplified as "post-stroke day 30"), post-stroke days 59-61 (simplified as "post-stroke day 60"), and post-stroke days 89-91 (simplified as "post-stroke day 90"). This data allowed us to chart functional recovery.

After euthanization and tissue preparation, the brain tissue was analyzed. Based on the endothelin injection site, evidence of ipsilateral infarcts (caused by the endothelin injections), contralateral infarcts, corpus callosum damage, and bilateral infarcts were reviewed. Infarct volume was also measured.

EXPERIMENT 1

In 2012, Experiment 1 reviewed earlier administration of the defined drug combination – 5 mg/kg of fluoxetine and 1 mg/kg of simvastatin – with delivery at 6-12 hours post-stroke. No rehabilitation component was involved. The animals were divided into one of two groups: drug-treated or control.

52

Presented Deficits

Both animal groups were reviewed for deficit type. Three control animals presented less than a 20% deficit after stroke surgery. Animals are considered to have no deficit if the baseline functional deficit measured less than 20%, and such animals were not included in the study of functional recovery. In regard to functional deficit, thirteen animals (nine drug-treated and four control animals) presented bilateral deficits. Bilateral deficits can be explained by analyzing the brain tissue for the presence of either contralateral cortical damage in addition to the ipsilateral infarct (caused by the endothelin injections) or corpus callosum damage. These data are presented in Table 3.

Of the nine drug-treated animals with bilateral deficits, four showed evidence of contralateral cortical damage in addition to ipsilateral infarcts. Three animals did not have contralateral cortical damage but did show corpus callosum damage; this corpus callosum damage could potentially cause the bilateral deficit. The source of the bilateral deficit could not be determined in two animals: Rat 566 and Rat 544. Rat 566 was used for a gene expression study, so brain tissue sections were not available for analysis; therefore, it cannot be determined whether this animal had contralateral or corpus callosum damage. Rat 544 showed bilateral deficits but did not show contralateral damage or corpus callosum damage; perhaps the bilateral deficit was due to damage not visible on the tissue slices we reviewed, since we only analyzed every fourth slice.

Of the four control animals with bilateral deficits, three animals showed evidence of contralateral cortical damage in addition to ipsilateral infarcts. The one animal that did not show contralateral cortical damage did demonstrate ipsilateral corpus callosum damage, which could have caused the bilateral deficit.

53

Table 3.

A table showing how animals were grouped in Experiment 1 and the types of deficits observed. None of the animals in this experiment received rehabilitation.

Table 3.

	Experiment 1: Rats 530-566							
Group	Total Animals	Montoya Criteria Not Met	No Deficit (< 20%)	Bilateral Deficits	Contralateral Cortical Damage	Ipsilateral Corpus Callosum Damage		
FS	18	4	0	9	4	3		
Control	18	4	3	4	3	1		
Died	1							

Functional Recovery

Functional deficits and recovery were charted over time. The percent of pre-stroke function retained was calculated by dividing an animal's best performance at a given time (e.g., best performance from post-stroke days 29-31) by the animal's best performance from the pre-stroke training days and multiplying that figure by 100%. Subtracting this value from 100 provided the percent of functional deficit. Percent functional recovery was calculated by subtracting the function retained at post-stroke days 3-5 (when the baseline deficit was determined) from the function retained at a given time (e.g., function retained at post-stroke days 29-31). Sample calculations are presented in Table 4.

Bilateral Deficits

Seven animals with bilateral deficits displayed evidence of contralateral cortical damage in addition to the ipsilateral infarcts (caused by the endothelin injections). Contralateral recovery and total recovery of these animals over time was analyzed (Table 5).

Four animals with bilateral deficits had corpus callosum damage in addition to the ipsilateral infarcts. Contralateral recovery and total recovery of these animals over time was analyzed as well (Table 6).

Total Recovery

Total recovery was charted over time and involved measuring contralateral recovery (recovery of the stroke-affected limb) together with ipsilateral recovery (Figure 6). While recovery at post-stroke days 30 and 60 was not statistically different between groups, total recovery at post-stroke day 90 was statistically higher for drug-treated animals over controls.

Table 4.

Tables showing sample calculations of baseline functional deficit at post-stroke days 3-5 and functional deficit/recovery at post-stroke days 29-31, 59-61, and 89-91. This sample used data for Rat 605 from the drug-treated with rehabilitation group in Experiment 2.

Baseline functional deficit was calculated as follows:

post-stroke # pellets / pre-stroke # pellets = baseline function retained (1 – baseline function retained) x 100 = % baseline functional deficit

Functional Deficit and Functional Recovery were calculated as follows (calculations were performed for PSD 60 and 90 as well; calculations were also performed for both contralateral and ipsilateral data):

PSD30 # *pellets / pre-stroke* # *pellets* = *PSD 30* function retained

 $(1 - PSD30 function retained) \times 100 = \% deficit$

(PSD 30 function retained – baseline function retained) x 100 = % recovery

Table 4.

Rat 605, Pre-stroke Function

Best
Performance
Pre-stroke
20 L, 21 R

Rat 605, Baseline Functional Deficit

Best Performance PSD 3, 4, 5	Contralateral Deficit	Ipsilateral Deficit
11 L, 20 R	0.45	0.05
	(45% deficit)	(5% deficit)

Rat 605, Deficit/Recovery at 30 Days Post-Stroke

Best Performance PSD 29, 30, 31	Contralateral Deficit	Ipsilateral Deficit	Contralateral Recovery	Ispilateral Recovery
13.5 L, 20.5 R	0.33	0.02	0.13	0.02
	(33% deficit)	(2% deficit)	(13% recovery)	(2% recovery)

Rat 605, Deficit/Recovery at 60 Days Post-Stroke

Best Performance PSD 59, 60, 61	Contralateral Deficit	Ipsilateral Deficit	Contralateral Recovery	Ispilateral Recovery
15 L, 19 R	0.25	0.095	0.20	-0.05
	(25% deficit)	(9.5% deficit)	(20% recovery)	(-5% recovery)

Rat 605, Deficit/Recovery at 90 Days Post-Stroke

Best Performance PSD 89, 90, 91	Contralateral Deficit	Ipsilateral Deficit	Contralateral Recovery	Ispilateral Recovery
17 L, 20 R	0.15	0.048	0.30	0.00
	(15% deficit)	(4.8% deficit)	(30% recovery)	(0% recovery)

Table 5.

Review of contralateral recovery (recovery of the stroke-affected limb) and total recovery for animals that functionally presented bilateral deficits, specifically those animals with contralateral cortical damage in addition to the ipsilateral infarcts. Values for contralateral recovery and total recovery over time from post-stroke days 29-31, 59-61, and 89-91 are displayed.

Table 5.

Experiment	PSD 29-31		PSD 59-61		PSD 89-91	
1						
Group	Contralateral	Total	Contralateral	Total	Contralateral	Total
Group	Recovery	Recovery	Recovery	Recovery	Recovery	Recovery
FS (N=4)*	29.02%	55.66%	33.68%	70.93%	34.71%	73.00%
C (N=3)**	31.22%	52.24%	22.22%	45.74%	18.52%	50.60%

*FS rats: 540, 542, 546, 553

**Control rats: 539, 547, 562
Table 6.

Review of contralateral recovery (recovery of the stroke-affected limb) and total recovery for animals that functionally presented bilateral deficits, specifically those animals with corpus callosum damage (not contralateral cortical damage) in addition to the ipsilateral infarcts. Values for contralateral recovery and total recovery over time from post-stroke days 29-31, 59-61, and 89-91 are displayed.

<u>Table 6.</u>

Experiment	PSD 29-31		PSD 59-61		PSD 89-91	
1						
Group	Contralateral	Total	Contralateral	Total	Contralateral	Total
	Recovery	Recovery	Recovery	Recovery	Recovery	Recovery
FS (N=3)*	1.76%	26.06%	22.31%	46.79%	20.74%	57.76%
C (N=1)**	47.06%	62.85%	44.12%	67.80%	50.00%	73.68%

*FS rats: 549, 557, 563

**Control rats: 545

Figure 6.

Comparison of total recovery (ipsilateral and contralateral combined) in control animals versus drug-treated animals at post-stroke days 30, 60, and 90. The x-axis shows time at post-stroke days 30, 60, and 90 for the control animals in yellow on the left and the drug-treated animals in green on the right. The y-axis denotes total recovery; multiplying the y-axis values by 100% gives the total recovery in a percentage. While no significant difference is shown at post-stroke days 30 or 60, there is a significant difference (T test, p=0.022) between the recovery of drug-treated animals and control animals at post-stroke day 90.

Figure 6.

Total Recovery (Ipsilateral and Contralateral) (Experiment 1)



Infarct Volume

In contrast to the previous study in our laboratory where drugs were administered at 20-26 hours post-stroke, larger infarcts were presented in this study (6-12 hour post-stroke delivery). Control animals, showed similar infarct sizes to those in the previous study. However, the drug-treated animals had much larger infarcts than previously observed.

The previous study in our laboratory with drug administration at 20-26 hours post-stroke also exhibited functional recovery along with smaller infarct sizes; there appeared to be a correlation between the two factors. Yet, a correlation did not appear to be evident in this study (6-12 hour post-stroke delivery).

A comparison of infarct size to contralateral functional recovery is presented in Figure 7. The best recovery was observed in animals with the smallest infarcts around 8 mm³. A trend was observed between animals with recovery less than 20% and animals with recovery greater than 20%, as more drug-treated animals had recovery above 20% while more control animals had recovery below 20%. In addition, at smaller infarct sizes, there was not much separation between recovery in drug-treated animals and recovery in control animals. However, at larger infarct sizes, more separation between recovery in drug-treated animals and recovery in control animals is observed.

Figure 7.

Figure plotting individual animal data comparing infarct volume to contralateral functional recovery (recovery of stroke-affected limb) in animals from Experiment 1. Limb rehabilitation was not a factor in this experiment. The yellow circles represent the 10 control animals. The green triangles represent the 12 drug-treated animals. The x-axis denotes infarct volume in mm³ (measured at the end of the study). The y-axis shows percent contralateral recovery seen after 90 days. The horizontal line is placed at 20% contralateral recovery for reference. The vertical line is placed at 8 mm³ infarct size for reference. A trend (Fisher's Exact Test, p=0.23) was present between drug-treated and control animals with recovery less than 20% and drug-treated and control animals with recovery greater than 20%. In order to achieve sufficient power for this statistical set, the sample size for each group would need to be doubled at the very least.

Figure 7.



Infarct Volume versus Contralateral Recovery

68

EXPERIMENT 2

In 2013, Experiment 2 reviewed earlier administration of the defined drug combination – 5 mg/kg of fluoxetine and 1 mg/kg of simvastatin – with delivery at 6-12 hours post-stroke; this is the same as Experiment 1. However, in Experiment 2, a rehabilitation component was added. The animals were divided into one of four groups: drug-treated with rehabilitation, drug-treated without rehabilitation, control with rehabilitation, or control without rehabilitation.

Presented Deficits

All animal groups were reviewed for deficit type. Seven animals (two drugtreated animals with rehabilitation and five control animals with rehabilitation) presented less than a 20% deficit after stroke surgery. Animals are considered to have no deficit if the baseline functional deficit measured less than 20%, and such animals were not included in the study of functional recovery. Four animals (one drug-treated animal with rehabilitation, two control animals with rehabilitation, and one control animal without rehabilitation) presented bilateral deficits when analyzing their post-stroke functional deficit. Bilateral deficits can be explained by the presence of contralateral cortical damage in addition to the ipsilateral infarct (caused by the endothelin injections). No animals in Experiment 2 displayed corpus callosum damage as a sole explanation for bilateral deficits. These data are presented in Table 7.

The one drug-treated animal with a bilateral deficit received rehabilitation and showed evidence of contralateral cortical damage in addition to ipsilateral infarcts; the contralateral damage explains the bilateral deficit.

69

Of the three control animals with bilateral deficits, two received rehabilitation and showed evidence of contralateral cortical damage in addition to ipsilateral infarcts; this contralateral damage explains the bilateral deficits. The third control animal with bilateral deficits did not receive rehabilitation. This animal (Rat 617) was used for a gene expression study, so brain tissue sections were not available for analysis. Therefore, it cannot be determined whether this animal had contralateral cortical damage.

Contralateral and ipsilateral deficits across the four groups were examined. These data are presented in Figure 8. Contralateral deficit (deficit in stroke-affected limb) seemed to increase across groups, with rehabilitation groups showing less deficit than non-rehabilitation groups, regardless of whether they were control or drug-treated animals. The control animals with rehabilitation showed the lowest contralateral deficits. The drug-treated animals with rehabilitation had larger contralateral deficits. The control animals with rehabilitation had larger contralateral deficits still. Finally, the largest contralateral deficits were seen in the drug-treated animals without rehabilitation. Ipsilaterally, the control animals with rehabilitation showed the smallest deficits. The drug-treated animals without rehabilitation had larger ipsilateral deficits. The drug-treated animals with rehabilitation showed the smallest deficits. The drug-treated animals with rehabilitation showed the smallest deficits. The drug-treated animals with rehabilitation showed the smallest deficits. The drug-treated animals with rehabilitation showed the smallest deficits. The drug-treated animals without rehabilitation had larger ipsilateral deficits, followed only with a slight increase by drug-treated animals with rehabilitation. Finally, the largest ipsilateral deficits were seen in the control animals with rehabilitation.

<u>Table 7.</u>

A table showing how animals were grouped in Experiment 2 and the types of deficits observed.

Table 7.

Experiment 2: Rats 600-637											
Group	Total Animals	Rehab.	No Rehab.	Montoya Criteria Not Met	No Deficit (< 20%)	Bilateral Deficits	Contralateral Cortical Damage				
FS	18	15	3	2 R	2 R	1R	1R				
Control	17	14	3	1 NR	5 R	2R, 1NR	2R				
Died	3										

R=Animal received rehabilitation

NR=Animal received no rehabilitation

Figure 8.

Comparison of functional deficits at the end of the study in control with rehabilitation (hashed yellow), control without rehabilitation (solid yellow), drug-treated with rehabilitation (hashed green), and drug-treated without rehabilitation (solid green). Contralateral (stroke-affected limb) and ipsilateral deficits were plotted separately. The x-axis distinguishes the contralateral deficits as compared to the ipsilateral deficits. The y-axis shows functional deficit; multiplying the y-axis values by 100% gives the functional deficit in a percentage. The control group without rehabilitation had a sample size of 2, so the bars on this group are standard deviation bars, while the bars on all other groups are standard error bars. Due to the low sample sizes of the control and drug-treated animal groups without rehabilitation, statistics were not run.

Figure 8.



Functional Deficits (Experiment 2)

Functional Recovery

Functional deficits and recovery were charted over time. The percent of pre-stroke function retained was calculated by dividing an animal's best performance at a given time (e.g., best performance from post-stroke days 29-31) by the animal's best performance from the pre-stroke training days and multiplying that figure by 100%. Subtracting this value from 100 provided the percent of functional deficit. Percent functional recovery was calculated by subtracting the function retained at post-stroke days 3-5 (when the baseline deficit was determined) from the function retained at a given time (e.g., function retained at post-stroke days 29-31).

Contralateral Recovery

Contralateral recovery (recovery of the stroke-affected limb) of the control and drug-treated animals was reviewed over time at post-stroke days 30, 60, and 90. Data were analyzed separately with rehabilitation animals and non-rehabilitation animals.

For the rehabilitation animals (Figure 9), no significant differences existed in contralateral recovery between drug-treated and control animals at any point in time. Because no significant difference existed, it could be stated that drug treatment does not appear to add any benefit when rehabilitation is received because recovery is similar between drug-treated and control groups across all time points. However, one notable observation was that drug-treated animals at post-stroke day 30 showed recovery above 30% while control animals showed recovery below 20%; this suggests it is possible that adding drug treatment to rehabilitation facilitates a quicker initial increase in recovery early on.

75

For the non-rehabilitation animals (Figure 10), control animals appeared to show higher contralateral recovery at post-stroke day 30 over drug-treated animals. However, recovery appeared to drop dramatically in control animals at post-stroke days 60 and 90 while the drug-treated animals showed increases in contralateral recovery consistently over time. Drug-treated animals appeared to show higher contralateral recovery in the end. Both control and drug-treated animals displayed functional recovery around 20% at 30 days post-stroke. However, while control animals lost recovery over time and end the study with recovery around 10%, drug treatment allowed the animals to gain recovery over time and end the study with recovery around 30%, thus better maintaining the initial recovery. It could be stated that trends are evident as described above, but despite these observations, the sample size of non-rehabilitated animals in Experiment 2 was extremely small. To best analyze data pertaining to non-rehabilitated animals, Figure 13 should be referenced because it combines all non-rehabilitation animal data from Experiments 1 and 2, resulting in a larger sample size, and does in fact present significant differences.

Figure 9.

Figure comparing contralateral recovery (recovery of stroke-affected limb) over time between control animals that received rehabilitation and drug-treated animals that received rehabilitation. The x-axis denotes time, reviewing post-stroke days 30, 60, and 90 for control animals on the left in yellow and drug-treated animals on the right in green. The y-axis exhibits contralateral recovery; multiplying the y-axis value by 100% gives the contralateral recovery in a percentage.

<u>Figure 9.</u>

Contralateral Recovery with Rehabilitation (Experiment 2)





Figure 10.

Figure comparing contralateral recovery (recovery of stroke-affected limb) over time between control animals that did not receive rehabilitation and drug-treated animals that did not receive rehabilitation. The x-axis denotes time, reviewing post-stroke days 30, 60, and 90 for control animals on the left in yellow and drug-treated animals on the right in green. The y-axis exhibits contralateral recovery; multiplying the y-axis value by 100% gives the contralateral recovery in a percentage. It is important to note only 6 animals composed the sample size for this figure (3 drug-treated animals and 2 control animals).

Figure 10.



Infarct Volume

Like Experiment 1, larger infarcts were presented with Experiment 2 when compared to our previous study with drug administration at 20-26 hours post-stroke, and a correlation between infarct size and functional recovery was not observed.

A comparison between infarct size and contralateral functional recovery is presented in Figure 11 for all animals in Experiment 2 that received rehabilitation. The best recovery appeared to be observed in animals with larger infarcts greater than 8 mm³ in size. No significant difference was observed between the control and drug-treated groups with recovery greater than 20%. The majority of drug-treated animals with rehabilitation had recovery above 20%; the majority of the control animals with rehabilitation also had recovery above 20%. In addition, at smaller infarct sizes, there was not much separation between recovery in drug-treated animals and recovery in control animals. However, at larger infarct sizes, more separation between recovery in drug-treated animals and recovery in control animals was detected.

Figure 11.

Figure plotting individual animal data comparing infarct volume to contralateral functional recovery (recovery of stroke-affected limb) in animals from Experiment 2, which involved a limb rehabilitation component. The yellow circles represent six control animals that received rehabilitation. The green circles represent eight drug-treated animals that received rehabilitation. Animals that did not receive rehabilitation are not represented in this figure. The x-axis denotes infarct volume in mm³ (measured at the end of the study). The y-axis shows percent contralateral recovery seen after 90 days. The horizontal line is placed at 20% contralateral recovery for reference. The vertical line is placed at 8 mm³ infarct size for reference. No significant difference (Fisher's Exact Test) was present between the control and drug-treated groups with recovery greater than 20%.

Figure 11.



Infarct Volume versus Functional Recovery in Post-Stroke Rehabilitated Rats

COMBINED DATA

Data from Experiments 1 and 2 were combined to analyze the full scope of early drug administration at 6-12 hours post-stroke. All animals from Experiment 1 (no rehabilitation) were grouped with the non-rehabilitation animals from Experiment 2.

Presented Deficits

Contralateral (in stroke-affected limb) and ipsilateral deficits across the combined groups from Experiments 1 and 2 were reviewed: control animals with rehabilitation, drug-treated animals with rehabilitation, control animals without rehabilitation, and drug-treated animals without rehabilitation. These data are presented in Figure 12. Functional deficit seemed to increase across groups, with rehabilitation groups showing less deficit than non-rehabilitation groups, regardless of whether they were control or drug-treated animals. The control animals with rehabilitation showed the lowest functional deficits, both contralateral and ipsilateral. The drug-treated animals with rehabilitation had larger deficits, both contralateral and ipsilateral. The control animals without rehabilitation had larger deficits still, both contralateral and ipsilateral. Finally, the largest deficits were seen in the drug-treated animals without rehabilitation, both contralateral and ipsilateral. Additionally, while the drug-treated animals without rehabilitation showed larger deficits than the control animals without rehabilitation, the difference was very small when looking at contralateral deficits between the two groups. Statistical analysis showed the ipsilateral deficits were significantly smaller than the contralateral deficits. However, there was no significant difference between any drug-treated group when compared to its corresponding control group.

84

Figure 12.

Comparison of functional deficits at the end of the study in all animals from Experiments 1 and 2 combined: control with rehabilitation (hashed yellow), control without rehabilitation (solid yellow), drug-treated with rehabilitation (hashed green), and drug-treated without rehabilitation (solid green). Contralateral (stroke-affected limb) and ipsilateral deficits were plotted separately. The x-axis distinguishes the contralateral deficits as compared to the ipsilateral deficits. The y-axis shows functional deficit; multiplying the y-axis values by 100% gives the functional deficit in a percentage. Statistical analysis showed the ipsilateral deficits are significantly different from the contralateral deficits. However, there is no significant difference between any drug-treated group when compared to its corresponding control group. This figure is similar to the data shown in Figure 8; however, Figure 12 represents Experiment 1 data added to the Experiment 2 data from Figure 8.

Figure 12.



Functional Deficits (Experiments 1 and 2)

Functional Recovery

Functional deficits and recovery were charted over time. The percent of pre-stroke function retained was calculated by dividing an animal's best performance at a given time (e.g., best performance from post-stroke days 29-31) by the animal's best performance from the pre-stroke training days and multiplying that figure by 100%. Subtracting this value from 100 provided the percent of functional deficit. Percent functional recovery was calculated by subtracting the function retained at post-stroke days 3-5 (when the baseline deficit was determined) from the function retained at a given time (e.g., function retained at post-stroke days 29-31).

Contralateral Recovery

Contralateral recovery (recovery of stroke-affected limb) of all non-rehabilitation control and drug-treated animals from Experiments 1 and 2 combined was reviewed over time at post-stroke days 30, 60, and 90 (Figure 13).

A significant difference existed between drug-treated animals at post-stroke days 30 and 90, showing recovery improved significantly over time with drug treatment. There was a significant difference between the control animals at post-stroke days 30 and 90 as well, showing recovery decreased significantly over time without drug treatment. Finally, there was a significant difference between drug-treated animals and control animals at post-stroke day 90, which demonstrates drug-treated animals recovered significantly better than the controls.

Figure 13.

Figure comparing contralateral recovery (recovery of stroke-affected limb) over time between all non-rehabilitation control and drug-treated animals from Experiments 1 and 2 combined. The x-axis denotes time, reviewing post-stroke days 30, 60, and 90 for control animals on the left in yellow and drug-treated animals on the right in green. The y-axis exhibits contralateral recovery; multiplying the y-axis value by 100% gives the contralateral recovery in a percentage. A significant difference exists between drugtreated animals at post-stroke days 30 and 90. A significant difference also exists between the control animals at post-stroke days 30 and 90. Lastly, a significant difference (Two-Way Repeated Measures ANOVA, Holm-Sidak post-hoc, p=0.047) exists between drug-treated animals and control animals at post-stroke day 90.

Figure 13.



Contralateral recovery (recovery in stroke-affected limb) at the end of the study from Experiments 1 and 2 was reviewed. The data are presented in Figure 14. No significant difference was seen in the drug-treated animals between those that received rehabilitation and those that did not; recovery was virtually the same. The control animals appeared to show more functional recovery if they had rehabilitation, but no significant difference was seen between control animals that received rehabilitation and those that did not. No significant difference was seen between control animals with rehabilitation and drug-treated animals with rehabilitation, although drug-treated animals with rehabilitation appeared to show slightly higher recovery than the controls with rehabilitation. One significant difference did present, though, showing drug-treated groups (both rehabilitation and no rehabilitation) produced significantly higher recovery than the control group without rehabilitation.

Figure 14.

Figure showing the effects of rehabilitation on contralateral recovery (recovery of stroke-affected limb) at the end of the study across Experiments 1 and 2. The four groups reviewed are control with rehabilitation (hashed yellow), control without rehabilitation (solid yellow), drug-treated with rehabilitation (hashed green), and drug-treated without rehabilitation (solid green). The x-axis denotes the control groups as compared to the drug-treated groups. The y-axis shows contralateral functional recovery as a decimal; multiplying this number by 100% provides the percentage of contralateral functional recovery. A significant difference is observed for Factor A (control versus drug) in the ANOVA. Tukey Post Hoc analysis showed a statistical difference between both drug-treated groups (rehabilitation and no rehabilitation) and control animals in the no rehabilitation group. No significant difference exists between the control animals with rehabilitation and the control animals without rehabilitation. There was, however, a trend, which would need increased sample sizes to resolve. No significant difference exists between the control animals with rehabilitation and the drug-treated animals with rehabilitation.

Effect of Rehabilitation on Contralateral Functional Recovery Montoya Staircase



Infarct Volume

While our laboratory believed drug-treated animals would exhibit smaller infarct sizes than controls, this was not observed in this study. Figure 7 compared infarct size to contralateral functional recovery with Experiment 1 (no rehabilitation); Figure 11 compared infarct size to contralateral functional recovery with all rehabilitated animals in Experiment 2. Figure 15 compares Figure 7 (Figure 15A) to Figure 11 (Figure 15B).

In Figure 15A (no rehabilitation), the best recovery developed in animals with smaller infarcts around 8 mm³. No significant difference was presented between drug-treated/control animals with recovery less than 20% and animals with recovery greater than 20%, although a trend was observed toward drug-treated animals having greater recovery.

While Figure 15A showed smaller infarcts produced better recovery in non-rehabilitated animals, Figure 15B reviewed only rehabilitated animals and shows the best recovery with larger infarcts greater than 8 mm³. No significant difference was presented in Figure 15B between drug-treated/control animals with recovery less than 20% and animals with recovery greater than 20%, and in contrast to Figure 15A, a trend was not observed, suggesting drug-treated animals did not have greater recovery over controls.

Animals in the right upper quadrant of the figures (infarcts larger than 8 mm³, recovery greater than 20%) were compared to animals elsewhere in the figures. When the data from Figure 15A data (no rehabilitation) was compared to the data from Figure 15B (rehabilitation), a statistical difference was shown, implying control animals recover better if they receive rehabilitation. Without rehabilitation, no control animals

93

showed recovery above 20% unless their infarct size was smaller than 8 mm³. However, with rehabilitation, recovery was seen above 20%, even with larger infarcts.

Figure 15.

Comparison of infarct volume to contralateral functional recovery (of stroke-affected limb) between Experiments 1 and 2. The x-axes denote infarct volume (at end of study) in mm³, and the y-axes show percent contralateral recovery after 90 days. The horizontal lines at 20% recovery and the vertical lines at 8 mm³ infarct size are for reference. (A) Infarct volume and contralateral recovery from Experiment 1, where limb rehabilitation was not involved, are compared. The yellow circles represent 10 control animals. The green triangles represent 12 drug-treated animals. No significant difference existed between drug-treated and control animals with recovery less than 20% and animals with recovery greater than 20%; however, a trend (Fisher's Exact Test, p=0.23) was evident, suggesting a 77% chance that drug-treated animals would show better recovery if sample sizes were larger.

(B) Infarct volume and contralateral recovery from Experiment 2 animals that received rehabilitation are compared. The yellow circles represent six control animals that received rehabilitation. The green circles represent the eight drug-treated animals that received rehabilitation. Animals that did not receive rehabilitation are not represented. No significant difference was presented between drug-treated and control animals with recovery less than 20% and animals with recovery greater than 20%.

A Fisher's Exact Test was run to compare the two figures. Animals in the right upper quadrant (infarcts larger than 8 mm³, recovery greater than 20%) were compared to animals falling elsewhere in the figures. A statistical difference existed between these data from Figure 15A compared to these data from Figure 15B (p=0.008), suggesting that control animals recovered better, even with larger infarcts, if they received rehabilitation.

95

Figure 15.

(A) Experiment 1 (No Rehabilitation)



Infarct Volume versus Contralateral Recovery





Infarct Volume versus Functional Recovery in Post-Stroke Rehabilitated Rats

IV. DISCUSSION

RESULTS SUMMARY

The results of this thesis present three main discoveries. Variability in functional recovery with drug treatment and limb rehabilitation as factors was observed. A lack of correlation between functional recovery and infarct size was also perceived. Lastly, larger (and sometimes bilateral) infarcts were observed in this study (6-12 hours post-stroke drug delivery) when compared with previous studies from our laboratory (20-26 hours post-stroke drug delivery), which may directly relate to our earlier drug administration.

Effects of Drug Combination and Limb Rehabilitation on Functional Recovery

The observations pertaining to functional recovery when considering drug treatment and limb rehabilitation are discussed below.

Functional Recovery: Without Rehabilitation

Without rehabilitation where drug treatment was the only variable, the drug-treated animals showed significantly higher contralateral functional recovery (of stroke-affected limb) over the control animals. Control animals showed a significant
decrease in recovery from post-stroke day 30 to post-stroke day 90 (Figure 13). Conversely, drug-treated animals showed a significant increase in recovery from post-stroke day 30 to post-stroke day 90 (Figure 13). Total recovery at post-stroke days 30 and 60 was not much different between the control and drug-treated animals, but total recovery at post-stroke day 90 was significantly higher in the drug-treated animals (Figure 6, Figure 13). Because the goal of the stroke surgery was to heavily impair the forelimb motor cortex rather than simply damage it, it took the full course of the study to see improvement in recovery. The data showed that, in the absence of rehabilitation, drug-treatment does in fact provide for increased functional recovery compared to the control. The control animals actually displayed a decrease in recovery and an increase in deficit over time. This finding is important because some patients may not be able to perform physical therapy due to other health problems or restrictions; if drug treatment alone is an option, such patients could obtain a level of increased recovery without having to take part in rehabilitation.

Functional Recovery: With Rehabilitation

With voluntary rehabilitation, no statistical difference was presented between recovery in the drug-treated animals and the control animals (Figure 9). The control animals appeared to recover just as well as drug-treated animals in the presence of rehabilitation. This suggests that rehabilitation in-and-of itself may present an opportunity for recovery, which is an important consideration for patients who may have access to rehabilitation but cannot afford medication or may not be able to take certain medications. Though drug treatment may not add any benefit when rehabilitation is received, it is possible that drug treatment allows for a quicker initial recovery when rehabilitation is involved. Recovery over time was about equal between drug-treated and control animals with rehabilitation, but the drug-treated animals appeared to show faster improvement initially at post-stroke day 30 over the controls (Figure 9); this suggests that drug treatment in combination with rehabilitation could possibly be beneficial for patients by improving functional recovery sooner after stroke.

Functional Recovery: Comparison of All Experimental Groups

Contralateral recovery across the four groups (control with rehabilitation, control without rehabilitation, drug-treated with rehabilitation, drug-treated without rehabilitation) (Figure 14) showed the drug-treated groups (both rehabilitation and no rehabilitation) produced significantly higher recovery than the control group without rehabilitation. This confirms that without rehabilitation, drug treatment provides for better recovery. There was no significant difference between drug-treated animals that received rehabilitation and those that did not, suggesting rehabilitation does not add anything to the drug treatment. No difference was noted between drug-treated animals with rehabilitation and control animals with rehabilitation; this implies that rehabilitation alone may be effective as well.

No difference presented between control animals that received rehabilitation and those that did not, but there did appear to be a trend insinuating that control animals show more functional recovery if they have rehabilitation. A statistical difference was observed when animals with larger infarcts (greater than 8 mm³) and recovery above 20%

were compared to the remaining animals in Experiments 1 and 2 (Figure 15), implying control animals recovered better, even with larger infarcts, if they received rehabilitation. Without rehabilitation, no control animals showed recovery above 20% unless their infarct size is smaller than 8 mm³. This suggests rehabilitation may be a promising avenue for stroke patients presenting larger infarcts, such as those who have experienced hemorrhagic stroke.

Many possible implications for stroke treatment in humans have surfaced regarding the effects of drug treatment or rehabilitation on recovery. This study proposes drug treatment alone, rehabilitation alone, and a combination of both could be beneficial in different cases. It is important to perform additional research in these areas.

Functional Recovery: Gray Matter versus White Matter Recovery

Differences were not observed in functional recovery of gray matter (cortical damage) versus white matter (corpus callosum damage) in the few cases that showed bilateral deficits. Recovery was typically noted on both contralateral (stroke-affected limb) and ipsilateral sides with the drug treatment.

Lack of Correlation Between Infarct Size and Functional Recovery

In contrast to the previous study with drug delivery at 20-26 hours post-stroke, functional recovery did not seem to correlate well with infarct size in this study. Several reasons could explain this lack of connection. A large infarct could be detected with very little consequence to the animal's function if the infarct encompassed a large somatosensory area rather than a large motor area. Conversely, a small infarct could be

detected but with great detriment to the animal's function if the infarct encompassed a small but important motor area. This heterogeneity in damage raises questions about how to classify and analyze damage as well as how to best compare the damage with the animal's recovery.

Figure 15 can be referenced for data associated with the issue of heterogeneity in damage. It is possible that a large infarct could have little effect on an animal's motor function if the damage involved mostly the somatosensory area; on the other hand, a small infarct impairing a sensitive portion of the forelimb motor cortex could greatly decrease the animal's motor function despite the small size of the infarct. In Figure 15A, the two yellow circles representing control animals seen in the lower left of the figure show very small infarct volumes but largely negative recovery values; it is possible these animals had severe damage, though small foci, in the forelimb motor cortex.

Without rehabilitation, drug-treated animals and control animals showed more separation in recovery with larger infarcts, while the recovery between the two groups was similar if the infarcts were smaller (Figure 15A). The question has been raised regarding the effectiveness of fluoxetine at different levels of severity, with one study suggesting fluoxetine only works if the level of damage is severe (Kirsch, 2008). However, another study suggests it is not that severely depressed patients respond better to the drug but that they respond less to the placebo (Kirsch *et al*, 2008). Again, further investigation is necessary.

Measuring Off of Bregma

To locate the two endothelin injection sites for stroke induction, coordinates were measured off of bregma to take out the forelimb motor cortex. An additional consideration regarding the issue of broader damage is whether measuring off of bregma is reliable. If the injection site was misplaced, it is possible that a different area of the cortex was damaged.

Possible Explanations of Larger Infarcts

Larger infarcts were seen in this study with drug administration at 6-12 hours post-stroke when compared to our laboratory's previous study with drug administration at 20-26 hours post-stroke. The data are shown in Figure 16. Both the control and drug-treated groups from Experiment 1 (6-12 hour post-stroke delivery) appeared to exhibit larger infarct volumes than those from the previous study (20-26 hour post-stroke delivery), with a significant difference present between the two drug-treated groups. Additionally, the previous study (20-26 hour post-stroke delivery) showed smaller infarct volumes in the drug-treated animals over the controls. Conversely, Experiment 1 of this study (6-12 hour post-stroke delivery) showed larger infarct volumes in the drug-treated animals over the controls.

While larger infarcts are of course undesirable, drug-treated animals with rehabilitation showed more functional recovery even with larger infarcts (Figure 15B). Future studies on this observation could potentially be important with recovery in hemorrhagic stroke patients, which exhibit larger infarcts.

Endothelin Injection Issue

One possible explanation for larger infarcts seen in this study is an issue with the endothelin injection. If some of the endothelin came back up out of the injection hole and spread across the surface of the cortex, less than the normal amount of endothelin would have entered the injection site. The endothelin that spread across the cortex could have constricted surface arteries beyond the targeted injection site, resulting in larger damage. This could have been caused by differences in the speed of injection.

Secondary Hemorrhagic Stroke

Another possible explanation of larger infarct sizes seen with the drug-treated animals is the occurrence of a secondary hemorrhagic stroke. Several different infarct configurations were observed in this study. Figures 17-20 show examples of each and explain the different configurations of damage.

Figure 16.

Figure comparing infarct volumes from Experiment 1 from this study (with drug administration at 6-12 hours post-stroke) to infarct volumes from our laboratory's previous study (with drug administration at 20-26 hours post-stroke). The solid yellow represents control animals from this study; the diagonally-hashed yellow represents control animals from the previous study. The solid green represents drug-treated animals from the previous study; the diagonally-hashed green represents drug-treated animals from the previous study. The x-axis denotes control groups compared to drug-treated groups. The y-axis shows infarct volume measured in mm³. A significant difference is present between the two drug-treated groups. A significant difference (p=0.016) is apparent between the infarct sizes of drug-treated animals from this study (delivery at 6-12 hours post-stroke) and drug-treated animals from the previous study (delivery at 20-26 hours post-stroke).

Figure 16.



Figure 17.

Sample infarct showing a simple infarct, easily identifiable at the injection site. Both a cartoon diagram and an actual image of an example of this type of infarct are shown. Cartoon outlines of the brain slice are provided for reference. The infarct is outlined in red and labeled. The corpus callosum and edges of the brain slice are outlined in blue for reference.

Figure 17.





Figure 18.

Sample infarct showing a simple infarct, easily identifiable at the injection site, with damage that crosses the midline. This additional damage could represent original damage caused by the initial infarct or evidence of a secondary hemorrhagic stroke. Both a cartoon diagram and an actual image of an example of this type of infarct are shown. Cartoon outlines of the brain slice are provided for reference. The infarct is outlined in red and labeled. The corpus callosum and edges of the brain slice are outlined in blue for reference.

Figure 18.



Figure 19.

Sample infarct showing a simple infarct, easily identifiable at the injection site, with obvious secondary hemorrhagic stroke damage contralateral to the initial infarct. Both a cartoon diagram and an actual image of an example of this type of infarct are shown. Cartoon outlines of the brain slice are provided for reference. The infarct and secondary hemorrhagic stroke damage are outlined in red and labeled. The corpus callosum and edges of the brain slice are outlined in blue for reference.

<u>Figure 19.</u>





Figure 20.

Sample infarct showing a simple infarct, easily identifiable at the injection site, with obvious secondary hemorrhagic stroke damage both ipsilateral and contralateral to the initial infarct. Both a cartoon diagram and an actual image of an example of this type of infarct are shown. Cartoon outlines of the brain slice are provided for reference. The infarct and secondary hemorrhagic stroke damage are outlined in red and labeled. The corpus callosum is outlined in blue for reference.

Figure 20.





An initial thought regarding the cause of the observed secondary hemorrhagic strokes was the possibility of endogenous tPA production. This thought surfaced because statins provide protection against ischemic injury by upregulating endogenous tPA (Asahi *et al*, 2005). However, this does not appear to be the best theory because 25 million people currently take a statin (Associated Press, 2014), and there is no evidence that anyone taking a statin stops taking it when they have a stroke. In fact, one study showed people taking statin did worse if the statins were stopped once the stroke occurred (Blanco *et al*, 2007). Additionally, the dose of simvastatin administered to rats in our study is extremely small when compared to the scope of human doses (Rx List, 2014b). Because human stroke patients receiving statins do not experience these complications, it is thought that the amount of tPA produced in conjunction with our rat dose would equate to much less than that produced in conjunction with the normal human dose. If this is the case, then it is unlikely that the amount of tPA produced would be enough to initiate hemorrhagic transformation.

A more promising idea is that the hemorrhagic transformation involves the drug combination's mechanism of action that increases VEGF in the brain. VEGF is a mediator of neurogenesis, neuroprotection, and angiogenesis after ischemia (Gaillard and Mir, 2001). VEGF is one mediator released by oxygen-deprived cells. It binds to receptors on endothelial cells and, in response, the associated vessels dilate and leak. The endothelial cells respond to the VEGF signal by producing other mediators that aid in degrading the vascular basement membrane and reorganizing the extracellular matrix, among other events. This permits and encourages endothelial cell migration and, ultimately, proliferation and assembly into new vasculature (Mayes, 2006).

In addition to promoting neurogenesis by increasing BDNF levels, fluoxetine may induce expression of VEGF (Gaillard and Mir, 2001). Simvastatin also upregulates BDNF and VEGF (Wu *et al*, 2008). VEGF increases angiogenesis, and it is possible that vessel leakage is occurring during the period of increased angiogenesis. One study showed that VEGF given to rats shortly after stroke resulted in a hemorrhagic transformation; however, VEGF given later after a stroke proved to be beneficial (Zhang *et al*, 2000). If our drug combination, given early at 6-12 hours post-stroke, is causing abnormally-early expression of VEGF and vessel leakage, it is possible that this is the mechanism behind the hemorrhagic transformation observed in this study.

Our study used a 5 mg/kg dose of fluoxetine. This rat dose equates to a human dose of approximately 40 mg/kg, which is moderate when reviewing the dose range of 20-80 mg for this drug (Rx List, 2014a). Our rat dose of 1 mg/kg dose of simvastatin equates to a human dose of 10 mg, which is low in the dose range of 5-40 mg for this drug (Rx List, 2014b). Because of this, it is possible that fluoxetine would contribute more to the VEGF timing production issue. More research is needed to determine the exact culprit behind the secondary hemorrhagic strokes observed in this study. Changing the administration time of the drug combination to one already proven to be safe would also be encouraged.

FUTURE EXPERIMENTS

Many questions were raised during analysis of the data presented in this thesis. Several possible future experiments are discussed.

Repeat This Study

The findings of this study suggest possible benefits with drug treatment alone, rehabilitation alone, and a combination of the two variables. However, a secondary hemorrhagic stroke may be occurring as a result of early drug delivery at 6-12 hours post-stroke. An essential future study would be to repeat this study, analyzing drug-treated animals and control animals in both rehabilitation and non-rehabilitation groups with drug delivery at 6-12 hours post-stroke, with a larger sample size. By redoing this study with increased sample sizes, it could be determined if our findings in this study are consistent and if earlier drug delivery may in fact be causing the hemorrhagic transformation. Steps could also be taken to measure endogenous tPA and VEGF production to identify the exact culprit behind the secondary hemorrhagic strokes.

Drug Administration at 20-26 Hours Post-Stroke Plus Rehabilitation Component

It has been shown in previous studies from our laboratory that drug administration at 20-26 hours post-stroke is beneficial and provides better results than earlier delivery at 6-12 hours post-stroke (Corbett *et al*, 2013). An important future study would be to duplicate Experiment 2 from this study by comparing the four animal groups – drug-treated and control animals in both rehabilitation and non-rehabilitation groups – while providing drug administration at 20-26 hours instead of 6-12 hours post-stroke.

This would revisit a successful administration timeline with the added rehabilitation component and ideally eliminate the possible issue of secondary hemorrhagic stroke due to too-early drug delivery.

Change Drug Duration

In our study, drug-treated animals continued receiving treatment for the full length of the study. No investigation has been performed on determining the proper duration of drug-treatment. Initiating future experiments to test different durations of treatment would be valuable because it is unknown whether an animal's recovery would continue, plateau, or regress after the drug-treatment is stopped. It is also valuable because, in human stroke patients, it would be necessary to know whether this treatment would be temporary or permanent.

Lengthen Study to Better Determine Rehabilitative Effects

Animals in the rehabilitation group received rehabilitation beginning at poststroke day 8 for five-and-one-half weeks. While rehabilitation was occurring during the Montoya testing for functional recovery at post-stroke days 29-31, rehabilitation had been stopped already when tests were performed at post-stroke days 59-61 and 89-91. Animals - even the control animals – appeared to retain functional recovery across the duration of the study if they received rehabilitation, despite the fact that the rehabilitation had been stopped much earlier (Figure 9). Additional studies conducted at longer length would be beneficial to map whether functional recovery is retained or decreases after a substantial amount of time.

Measure Infarct Size Throughout Study

This study measured infarct volume at the end of the study using histological analysis of the brain tissue. It would be interesting to measure infarct size at different points throughout the study. One approach could involve inducing strokes in a large sample size of animals followed by infarct analysis at different increments. For example, brain tissue of one group of animals could be analyzed at 24 hours post-stroke to understand the initial infarct size. Another possible approach could involve infarct measurement in the same animals at different times throughout the study by using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), as seen in other studies (Christoforidis *et al*, 2011).

Use of Other Stains

To examine if infarct size could be used as a good variable in measuring the effects of our drug combination, a future experiment could employ the use of different stains. While the Nissl stain allows normal neurons to be observed, other stains may benefit future studies by helping to determine other neuronal states, such as neurons that are functional as compared to those that have grown and made new connections but are not yet functional.

Employing Somatosensory Tests

The experiments examined in this thesis were completed using functional behavioral tests to measure the effects of the stroke and, later, our drug combination on functional – that is, motor – recovery. No analysis was done to also analyze effects of the stroke and our drug treatment on somatosensory behavior. It would be interesting to

employ the use of an added behavioral somatosensory test to determine if a somatosensory deficit is present in addition to a motor deficit. This could give insight precisely as to how the larger infarcts observed in this thesis study affected the animals' brains. If a large infarct greatly affected somatosensory areas, this could provide implications as to why little functional motor deficit was detected. Additionally, an animal with impaired somatosensory function may have intact motor function, but it would have difficulty grasping the sucrose pellets if it cannot feel or smell them. Adding a somatosensory component to the study may help answer the question presented earlier in this section regarding heterogeneity in damage.

CONCLUSIONS

Differences in functional recovery across groups suggest several possible treatment options. Without rehabilitation, drug treatment provides better functional recovery (Figure 13). This proposes that drug treatment alone to be an option, which is beneficial because patients incapable of performing physical therapy could still have hope for recovery. With rehabilitation, there was no difference in functional recovery between drug-treated and control animals, suggesting rehabilitation – regardless of drug administration – may provide an opportunity for recovery (Figure 14). If rehabilitation alone is an option, this could help patients with pharmaceutical restrictions. Rehabilitation also provides the opportunity for greater recovery even in the occurrence of larger infarcts (Figure 15), which may be beneficial to hemorrhagic stroke patients. Finally, drug treatment combined with rehabilitation may initiate faster recovery early on (Figure 9), but further investigation is needed. The issue of heterogeneity in damage raises questions of whether the forelimb motor cortex alone was affected. With possible somatosensory areas involved, especially with the larger infarct volumes, additional parameters such as somatosensory testing could be employed in future studies.

Larger infarcts presented in this study with earlier drug delivery at 6-12 hours post-stroke may be the result of hemorrhagic transformation due to a too-early induction of VEGF expression by our drug combination. Further exploration into the mechanisms involved is necessary, as is duplicating this study and performing new experiments at the later drug delivery of 20-26 hours post-stroke.

Ultimately, further investigation is needed to increase sample size to better quantify the results. Additional research will also aid in properly measuring the effects of our drug combination on functional recovery and infarct size, the timing of drug delivery, and the effects of limb rehabilitation on functional recovery.

REFERENCES

- Albright KC, Branas CC, Meyer BC, Matherne-Meyer DE, Zivin JA, Lyden PD, Carr BG. 2010. ACCESS: acute cerebrovascular care in emergency stroke systems. *Arch. Neurol.* 67(10):1210-8.
- American Heart Association. 2009. Most US Hospitals Don't Provide Powerful Acute Stroke Drug To Medicare Patients. *ScienceDaily*. Accessed March 7, 2014. www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2009/02/090219202710.htm
- American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. 2012. Types of Stroke. Last modified October 23. Accessed March 5, 2014. http://www.strokeassociation.org/ STROKEORG/AboutStroke/TypesofStroke/Types-of-Stroke_UCM_308531_ SubHomePage.jsp
- American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. 2013. Stroke Treatments. Last modified May 29. Accessed March 5 2014. http://strokeassociation.org/STROKEORG/AboutStroke/Treatment/Stroke-Treatments_UCM_310892_Article.jsp#
- Andrade C, Sandarsh S, Chethan KB, Nagesh KS. 2010. Serotonin reuptake inhibitor antidepressants and abnormal bleeding: a review for clinicians and a reconsideration of mechanisms. *J. Clin. Psychiatry*. 71(12):1565-75.
- Armstead WM, Nassar T, Akkawi S, Smith DH, Chen XH, Cines DB, Higazi AA. 2006. Neutralizing the neurotoxic effects of exogenous and endogenous tPA. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9(9):1150-5.
- Asahi M, Huang Z, Thomas S, Yoshimura S, Sumii T, Mori T, Qiu J, Amin-Hanjani S, Huang PL, Liao JK, Lo EH, Moskowitz MA. 2005. Protective effects of statins involving both eNOS and tPA in focal cerebral ischemia. J. Cereb. Blood. Flow Metab. 25(6):722-9.
- Associated Press. 2014. 13 million more Americans would take statins if new guidelines followed: Study. CBS News. Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.cbsnews.com/news/13-million-more-americans-would-take-statins-ifnew-guidelines-followed-study/

- Bacigaluppi M, Comi G, Hermann DM. 2010. Animal Models of Ischemic Stroke. Part Two: Modeling Cerebral Ischemia. Open Neurol. J. 4:34-38.
- Bednar MM, Gross CE. 1999. Antiplatelet Therapy in Acute Cerebral Ischemia. *Stroke*. 30:887-893
- Bekinschtein P, Cammarota M, Katche C, Slipczuk L, Rossato JI, Goldin A, Izquierdo I, Medina JH. 2008. BDNF is essential to promote persistence of long-term memory storage. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 105(7) 2711–2716.
- Binder DK, Scharfman HE. 2004. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *Growth Factors*. 22:123–131.
- Blanco M, Nombela F, Castellanos M, Rodriguez-Yáñez M, García-Gil M, Leira R, Lizasoain I, Serena J, Vivancos J, Moro MA, Dávalos A, Castillo J. 2007. Statin treatment withdrawal in ischemic stroke, a controlled randomized study. *Neurology*. 69(9):904-910.
- Blier P, Ward HE, Tremblay P, Laberge L, Hébert C, Bergeron R. 2010. Combination of Antidepressant Medications From Treatment Initiation for Major Depressive Disorder: A Double-Blind Randomized Study. Am. J. Psychiatry. 167:281-288.
- Brott T, Marler JR, Olinger CP, Adams HP Jr, Tomsick T, Barsan WG, Biller J, Eberle R, Hertzberg V, Walker M. 1989. Measurements of acute cerebral infarction: lesion size by computed tomography. *Stroke*. 20(7):871-5.
- California Pacific Medical Center. 2013. Stroke Care. Accessed March 7, 2014. http://www.cpmc.org/quality/stroke.html
- Carmichael ST. 2005. Rodent Models of Focal Stroke: Size, Mechanism, and Purpose. *NeuroRx*. 2(3): 396–409.
- Casals JB, Pieri NC, Feitosa ML, Ercolin AC, Roballo KC, Barreto RS, Bressan FF, Martins DS, Miglino MA, Ambrósio CE. 2011. The Use of Animal Models for Stroke Research: A Review. *Comp. Med.* 61(4):305-313.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Division for Heart Disease and Stroke Prevention. 2013. Stroke Fact Sheet. Accessed 28 February 2014. http://www.cdc.gov/dhdsp/data statistics/fact sheets/fs stroke.htm
- Chapman SN, Mehndiratta P, Johansen MC, McMurry TL, Johnston KC, Southerland AM. 2014. Current perspectives on the use of intravenous recombinant tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) for treatment of acute ischemic stroke. Vasc. Health Risk Manag. 10:75-87.

- Chaturvedi M, Kaczmarek L. 2013. MMP-9 Inhibition: a Therapeutic Strategy in Ischemic Stroke. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 49(1):563-73.
- Chollet F, Cramer SC, Stinear C, Kappelle LJ, Baron JC, Weiller C, Azouvi P, Hommel M, Sabatini U, Moulin T, Tardy J, Valenti M, Montgomery S, Adams H Jr. 2013. Pharmacological therapies in post stroke recovery: recommendations for future clinical trials. J. Neurol. [Epub ahead of print].
- Chollet F, Tardy J, Albucher J, Thalamas C, Berard E, Lamy C, Bejot Y, Deltour S, Jaillard A, Niclot P, Guillon B, Moulin T, Marque P, Pariente J, Arnaud C, Loubinoux I. 2011. Fluoxetine for motor recovery after acute ischaemic stroke (FLAME): a randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Neurol*. 10(2):123-130.
- Christoforidis GA, Rink C, Kontzialis MS, Mohammad Y, Koch RM, Abduljalil AM, Bergdall VK, Roy S, Khanna S, Slivka AP, Knopp MV, Sen CK. 2011. An endovascular canine middle cerebral artery occlusion model for the study of leptomeningeal collateral recruitment. *Invest Radiol*. 46(1):34-40.
- Cipriani A, Brambilla P, Furukawa T, Geddes J, Gregis M, Hotopf M, Malvini L, Barbui C. 2005. Fluoxetine versus other types of pharmacotherapy for depression. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* (4):CD004185.
- Clark WM, Wissman S, Albers GW, Jhamandas JH, Madden KP, Hamilton S. 1999. Recombinant tissue-type plasminogen activator (alteplase) for ischemic stroke 3 to 5 hours after symptom onset. The ATLANTIS Study: A randomized controlled trial. Alteplase Thrombolysis for Acute Noninterventional Therapy in Ischemic Stroke. JAMA. 282:2019-2026.
- Copin J-C, Bengualid DJ, Da Silva RF, Kargiotis O, Schaller K, Gasche Y. 2011. Recombinant tissue plasminogen activator induces blood–brain barrier breakdown by a matrix metalloproteinase-9-independent pathway after transient focal cerebral ischemia in mouse. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 34: 1085–1092.
- Corbett A, McGowin A, Sieber S, Flannery T, Sibbitt B. 2012. A method for reliable voluntary oral administration of a fixed dosage (mg/kg) of chronic daily medication to rats. *Lab Anim.* 46(4): 318-24.
- Corbett A, Sieber S, Wyatt N, Lizzi J, Flannery T, Sibbitt B, Sanghvi S. 2013. An effective Delayed Treatment for Ischemic Stroke uses Fluoxetine and Simvastatin. International Stroke Conference Abstract, Honolulu, HW, 2013.
- Costagliola C, Parmeggiani F, Semeraro F, Sebastiani A. 2008. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors: a review of its effects on intraocular pressure. *Current Neuropharmacology*. 6(4):293–310.

- Cramer SC. 2011. Listening to fluoxetine: a hot message from the FLAME trial of poststroke motor recovery. *Int. J. Stroke*. 6(4):315-6.
- Dauchy RT, Dauchy EM, Tirrell RP, Hill CR, Davidson LK, Greene MW, Tirrell PC, Wu J, Sauer LA, Blask DE. 2010. Dark-phase light contamination disrupts circadian rhythms in plasma measures of endocrine physiology and metabolism in rats. *Comp. Med.* 60(5):348-56.
- Dent LA, Orrock MW. 1997. Warfarin-fluoxetine and diazepam-fluoxetine interaction. *Pharmacotherapy*. 17(1):170-2.
- Dirnagl U, Iadecola C, Moskowitz MA. 1999. Pathobiology of ischaemic stroke: an integrated view. *Trends Neurosci*. 22(9):391-7.
- Dzau VJ, Gibbons GH. 1993. Vascular remodeling: mechanisms and implications. J *Cardiovasc. Pharmacol.* 21(Suppl 1):S1-5.
- Elder GA, De Gasperi R, Gama Sosa MA. 2006. Research update: neurogenesis in adult brain and neuropsychiatric disorders. *Mt Sinai J Med*. 73(7):931-40.
- Estrada C, Murillo-Carretero M. 2005. Nitric oxide and adult neurogenesis in health and disease. *Neuroscientist*. 11(4):294-307.

Gaillard R, Mir O. 2011. Fluoxetine and motor recovery after ischaemic stroke. *Lancet Neurol*. 10(6):499.

Ginsberg MD, Busto R. 1989. Rodent models of cerebral ischemia. *Stroke*. 20:1627-1642.

- Go AS, Mozaffarian D, Roger VL, Benjamin EJ, Berry JD, Blaha MJ, Dai S, Ford ES, Fox CS, Franco S, Fullerton HJ, Gillespie C, Hailpern SM, Heit JA, Howard VJ, Huffman MD, Judd SE, Kissela BM, Kittner SJ, Lackland DT, Lichtman JH, Lisabeth LD, Mackey RH, Magid DJ, Marcus GM, Marelli A, Matchar DB, McGuire DK, Mohler ER III, Moy CS, Mussolino ME, Neumar RW, Nichol G, Pandey DK, Paynter NP, Reeves MJ, Sorlie PD, Stein J, Towfighi A, Turan TN, Virani SS, Wong ND, Woo D, Turner MB. 2014. Heart disease and stroke statistics—2014 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 129(3):e28–e292.
- Goncalves MB, Williams E, Yip P, Yáñez-Muñoz RJ, Williams G, and Doherty P. 2010. The COX-2 inhibitors, meloxicam and nimesulide, suppress neurogenesis in the adult mouse brain. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 159(5): 1118–1125.
- Gonzenbach RR, Taegtmeyer AB, Luft A, Russmann S. 2011. Fluoxetine and motor recovery after ischaemic stroke. *Lancet Neurol*. 10(6):499-500.

- Gravanis I, Tsirka SE. 2008. Tissue-type plasminogen activator as a therapeutic target in stroke. *Expert Opin. Ther. Targets*.12(2):159–170.
- Hacke W, Donnan G, Fieschi C, Kaste M, von Kummer R, Broderick JP, Brott T, Frankel M, Grotta JC, Haley EC Jr, Kwiatkowski T, Levine SR, Lewandowski C, Lu M, Lyden P, Marler JR, Patel S, Tilley BC, Albers G, Bluhmki E, Wilhelm M, Hamilton S; ATLANTIS Trials Investigators; ECASS Trials Investigators; NINDS rt-PA Study Group Investigators. 2004. Association of outcome with early stroke treatment: pooled analysis of ATLANTIS, ECASS, and NINDS rt-PA stroke trials. *Lancet*. 363(9411):768-74.
- Hall MJ, Levant S, DeFrances CJ. 2012. Hospitalization for stroke in U.S. hospitals, 1989-2009. *NCHS Data Brief*. 95.
- Hernández-Perera O, Pérez-Sala D, Navarro-Antolín J, Sánchez-Pascuala R, Hernández G, Díaz C, Lamas S. 1998. Effects of the 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase inhibitors, atorvastatin and simvastatin, on the expression of endothelin-1 and endothelial nitric oxide synthase in vascular endothelial cells. J. Clin. Invest. 101(12):2711-9.
- Hoehn BD, Palmer TD, Steinberg GK. 2005. Neurogenesis in rats after focal cerebral ischemia is enhanced by indomethacin. *Stroke* 36: 2718-2724.
- Hossmann KA. 2006. Pathophysiology and therapy of experimental stroke. *Cell. Mol. Neurobiol.* 26(7-8):1057-83.
- Howard G, Goff DC. 2012. Population shifts and the future of stroke: forecasts of the future burden of stroke. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 1268: 14–20.
- Howells DW, Porritt MJ, Rewell SS, O'Collins V, Sena ES, van der Worp HB, Traystman RJ, Macleod MR. 2010. Different strokes for different folks: the rich diversity of animal models of focal cerebral ischemia. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 30(8):1412-1431.
- Ishrat T, Soliman S, Guan W, Saler M, Fagan S. 2012. Vascular Protection to Increase the Safety of Tissue Plasminogen Activator for Stroke. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 18(25):3677-84.
- Jiang X, Guo M, Su J, Lu B, Ma D, Zhang R, Yang L, Wang Q, Ma Y, Fan Y. 2012. Simvastatin blocks blood-brain barrier disruptions induced by elevated cholesterol both in vivo and in vitro. *Int. J. Alzheimer's Dis.* 2012:109324.
- Jickling GC, Liu D, Stamova B, Ander BP, Zhan X, Lu A, Sharp FR. 2014. Hemorrhagic transformation after ischemic stroke in animals and humans. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 34(2):185-99.

- Kirsch I. 2008. Challenging Received Wisdom: Antidepressants and the Placebo Effect. *Mcgill J Med.* 11(2): 219–222.
- Kirsch I, Deacon BJ, Huedo-Medina TB, Scoboria A, Moore TJ, Johnson BT. 2008. Initial severity and antidepressant benefits: a meta-analysis of data submitted to the Food and Drug Administration. *PLoS Med.* 5(2):e45.
- Kleim JA, Jones TA, Schallert T. 2003. Motor enrichment and the induction of plasticity before or after brain injury. *Neurochem. Res.* 28(11):1757-69.
- Lapchak PA, Han MK. 2010. Simvastatin improves clinical scores in a rabbit multiple infarct ischemic stroke model: synergism with a ROCK inhibitor but not the thrombolytic tissue plasminogen activator. *Brain Res.* 1344:217-25.
- Lee YC, Lin CH, Lin MS, Lin JW, Chang CH, Lai MS. 2013. Effects of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors versus tricyclic antidepressants on cerebrovascular events: a nationwide population-based cohort study. J. Clin. Psychopharmacol. 33(6):782-9.
- Li F, Zhao C, Wang L. 2014. Molecular-targeted agents combination therapy for cancer: developments and potentials. *Int. J. Cancer.* 134(6):1257-69.
- Li X, Gao Y, Li J, Feng F, Liu JM, Zhang HB, Zhang D, Hundei WH, Chen F, Chen YP, Chen ZM, Landray M, Armitage J, Jiang LX, Li LM; HPS2-THRIVE China group. 2012. Underuse of statins in patients with atherosclerotic ischemic stroke in China. Chin Med J (Engl). 125(10):1703-7.
- Li Y, Liu Z, Xin H, Chopp M. 2014. The role of astrocytes in mediating exogenous cellbased restorative therapy for stroke. *Glia*. 62(1):1-16.
- Liao JK, Laufs U. 2005. Pleiotropic effects of statins. Ann. Review of Pharm and Toxicology. 45:89-118
- Lim CM, Kim SW, Park JY, Kim C, Yoon SH, Lee JK. 2009. Fluoxetine affords robust neuroprotection in the postischemic brain via its anti-inflammatory effect. J. Neurosci. Res. 87(4):1037-45.
- Liu X, Zhang J, Sun D, Fan Y, Zhou H, Fu B. 2013. Fluoxetine enhances Brain Derived Neurotropic Factor Serum Concentration and Cognition in Patients with Vascular Dementia. *Curr. Neurovasc. Res.* [Epub ahead of print].
- Livingston-Thomas JM, McGuire EP, Doucette TA, Tasker RA. 2014. Voluntary forced use of the impaired limb following stroke facilitates functional recovery in the rat. *Behav. Brain Res.* 261:210-9.

- Lucking AJ, Gibson KR, Paterson EE, Faratian D, Ludlam CA, Boon NA, Fox KA, Newby DE. 2013. Endogenous tissue plasminogen activator enhances fibrinolysis and limits thrombus formation in a clinical model of thrombosis. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 33(5):1105-11.
- Ma MM, Li SY, Wang M, Guan YY. 2012. Simvastatin attenuated cerebrovascular cell proliferation in the development of hypertension through Rho/Rho-kinase pathway. *J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol.* 59(6):576-82.
- MacLellan CL, Keough MB, Granter-Button S, Chernenko GA, Butt S, Corbett D. 2011. A critical threshold of rehabilitation involving brain-derived neurotrophic factor is required for poststroke recovery. *Neurorehabil. Neural Repair.* 25(8):740-8.
- Madinier A, Bertrand N, Rodier M, Quirié A, Mossiat C, Prigent-Tessier A, Marie C, Garnier P. 2013. Ipsilateral versus contralateral spontaneous post-stroke neuroplastic changes: involvement of BDNF? *Neuroscience*. 231:169-81.
- Magni LR, Purgato M, Gastaldon C, Papola D, Furukawa TA, Cipriani A, Barbui C. 2013. Fluoxetine versus other types of pharmacotherapy for depression. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 7:CD004185.
- Mandal A. 2014. Neurogenesis-What is Neurogenesis?. *News Medical*. Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.news-medical.net/health/Neurogenesis-What-is-Neurogenesis.aspx
- Mang CS, Campbell KL, Ross CJ, Boyd LA. 2013. Promoting neuroplasticity for motor rehabilitation after stroke: considering the effects of aerobic exercise and genetic variation on brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *Phys. Ther.* 93(12):1707-16.
- Marquez-Romero JM, Arauz A, Ruiz-Sandoval JL, Cruz-Estrada Ede L, Huerta-Franco MR, Aguayo-Leytte G, Ruiz-Franco A, Silos H. 2013. Fluoxetine for motor recovery after acute intracerebral hemorrhage (FMRICH): study protocol for a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter trial. *Trials*. 14:77.
- Mayes D. 2006. Characterization of the Tumor Suppressor Function of PAX6 in Glioblastoma: Regulation of Tumor Invasion and Angiogenesis (doctoral dissertation). pp 61-70.
- McGirt MJ, Lynch JR, Parra A, Sheng H, Pearlstein RD, Laskowitz DT, Pelligrino DA, Warner DS. 2002. Simvastatin increases endothelial nitric oxide synthase and ameliorates cerebral vasospasm resulting from subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke*. 33(12):2950-6.
- Mead GE, Dennis M, Lundström E, Murray V, Hackett M, Hankey GJ. 2013a. Letter by Mead et al regarding article, "Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors for stroke: more trials are needed". *Stroke*. 44(4):e40-1.

- Mead GE, Hsieh C, Lee R, Kutlubaev M, Claxton A, Hankey GJ, Hackett M. 2013b. Selective Serotonin Reuptake Inhibitors for Stroke Recovery, A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Stroke*. 44: 844-850.
- Mead GE, Hsieh CF, Lee R, Kutlubaev MA, Claxton A, Hankey GJ, Hackett ML. 2012. Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) for stroke recovery. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 11:CD009286.
- Mergenthaler P, Meisel A. 2012. Do stroke models model stroke?. *Dis. Model. Mech.* 5(6):718-725.
- Miedema I, Uyttenboogaart M, Koopman K, De Keyser J, Luijckx GJ. 2010. Statin use and functional outcome after tissue plasminogen activator treatment in acute ischaemic stroke. *Cerebrovasc. Dis.* 29(3):263-7.
- Miller FD, Kaplan DR. 2001. Neurotrophin signalling pathways regulating neuronal apoptosis. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* 58(8):1045-53.
- Mital S, Zhang X, Zhao G, Bernstein RD, Smith CJ, Fulton DL, Sessa WC, Liao JK, Hintze TH. 2000. Simvastatin upregulates coronary vascular endothelial nitric oxide production in conscious dogs. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 279(6):H2649-57.
- Montoya CP, Campbell-Hope LJ, Pemberton KD, Dunnett SB. 1991. The "staircase test": a measure of independent forelimb reaching and grasping abilities in rats. *J. Neurosci. Methods.* 36(2-3): 219-28.
- Murphy SL, Xu J, Kochanek KD. 2013. Deaths: final data for 2010. National Vital Statistics Reports. 61(4).
- National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke, National Institute of Health. 2014. Stroke: Hope Through Research. Accessed February 28, 2014. http://www.ninds.nih.gov/disorders/stroke/detail_stroke.htm
- National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke rt-PA Stroke Study Group. 1995. Tissue plasminogen activator for acute ischemic stroke. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 333:1581–7.
- National Stroke Association. 2013. Explaining Stroke. Accessed March 5, 2014. http://www.stroke.org/site/PageServer?pagename=explainingstroke
- National Stroke Association. 2014a. Stroke Treatment. Accessed March 5, 2014. http://www.stroke.org/site/PageServer?pagename=treatment

- National Stroke Association. 2014b. Types of Stroke. Accessed March 5, 2014. http://www.stroke.org/site/PageServer?pagename=type
- Nogueira AB, Sogayar MC, Colquhoun A, Siqueira SA, Nogueira AB, Marchiori PE, Teixeira MJ. 2014. Existence of a potential neurogenic system in the adult human brain. J. Transl. Med. 12:75.
- Ortolano S, Spuch C. 2013. tPA in the central nervous system: relations between tPA and cell surface LRPs. *Recent Pat. Endocr. Metab. Immune Drug Discov.* 7(1):65-76.
- Pakker NG, Notermans DW, Boer RJ de, Roos MT, Wolf F de, Hill A, Leonard JM, Danner SA, Miedema F, Schellekens, P. 1998. Biphasic kinetics of peripheral blood T cells after triple combination therapy in HIV-1 infection: a composite of redistribution and proliferation. *Nature Medicine*. 4(2):208-214.
- Phipps MS, Zeevi N, Staff I, Fortunato G, Kuchel GA, McCullough LD. 2013. Stroke severity and outcomes for octogenarians receiving statins. Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr. 57(3):377-82.
- Ploughman M, Windle V, MacLellan CL, White N, Doré JJ, Corbett D. 2009. Brainderived neurotrophic factor contributes to recovery of skilled reaching after focal ischemia in rats. *Stroke*. 40(4):1490-5.
- Rao TSS, Andrade C. 2011. Exploring new frontiers in neuropsychopharmacology: SSRIs for stroke. *Indian J Psychiatry*. 53(4):283-6.
- Reagan-Shaw S, Nihal M, Ahmad N. 2007. Dose translation from animal to human studies revisited. *FASEB J*. 22(3):659-61.
- Reeves MJ, Arora S, Broderick JP, Frankel M, Heinrich JP, Hickenbottom S, Karp H, LaBresh KA, Malarcher A, Mensah G, Moomaw CJ, Schwamm L, Weiss P, Paul Coverdell Prototype Registries Writing Group. 2005. Acute stroke care in the US: results from 4 pilot prototypes of the Paul Coverdell National Acute Stroke Registry. *Stroke*. 36(6):1232-40.
- Rodríguez-Yáñez M, Agulla J, Rodríguez-González R, Sobrino T, Castillo J. 2008. Statins and stroke. *Ther. Adv. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 2(3):157-66.
- Rx List. 2014a. Prozac: Dosage and Administration. Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.rxlist.com/prozac-drug/indications-dosage.htm
- Rx List. 2014b. Zocor: Dosage and Administration. Accessed May 27, 2014. http://www.rxlist.com/zocor-drug/indications-dosage.htm
- Sappino AP, Madani R, Huarte J, Belin D, Kiss JZ, Wohlwend A, and Vassalli JD. 1993. Extracellular proteolysis in the adult murine brain. J. Clin. Invest. 92(2): 679–685.

- Sargeant TJ, Miller JH, Day DJ. 2008. Opioidergic regulation of astroglial/neuronal proliferation: where are we now? *J. Neurochem.* 107: 883-897.
- Schäbitz WR, Steigleder T, Cooper-Kuhn CM, Schwab S, Sommer C, Schneider A, Kuhn HG. 2007. Intravenous Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor Enhances Poststroke Sensorimotor Recovery and Stimulates Neurogenesis. *Stroke*. 38: 2165-2172.
- Seki T, Sawamoto K, Parent JM, Alvarez-Buylla A. 2011. Neurogenesis in the Adult Brain II: Clinical Implications. New York, NY: Springer. pp 134-144.
- Shinoyama M, Nakagawara J, Yoneda H, Suzuki M, Ono H, Kunitsugu I, Kamiyama K, Osato T, Nakamura H. 2013. Initial 'TTP Map-Defect' of Computed Tomography Perfusion as a Predictor of Hemorrhagic Transformation of Acute Ischemic Stroke. *Cerebrovasc. Dis. Extra*. 3(1):14-25.
- Sierra S, Ramos MC, Molina P, Esteo C, Vázquez JA, Burgos JS. 2011. Statins as neuroprotectants: a comparative in vitro study of lipophilicity, blood-brain-barrier penetration, lowering of brain cholesterol, and decrease of neuron cell death. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 23(2):307-18.
- Stemer A, Lyden P. 2010. Evolution of the Thrombolytic Treatment Window for Acute Ischemic Stroke. *Current Neurology and Neuroscience Reports*. 10(1):29-33.
- Stepień K, Tomaszewski M, Czuczwar SJ. 2005. Neuroprotective properties of statins. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 57(5):561-9.
- Tan AA, Quigley A, Smith DC, Hoane MR. 2009. Strain differences in response to traumatic brain injury in Long-Evans compared to Sprague-Dawley rats. J. *Neurotrauma*. 26(4):539-48.
- Tang J, Li YJ, Li Q, Mu J, Yang DY, Xie P. 2010. Endogenous tissue plasminogen activator increases hemorrhagic transformation induced by heparin after ischemia reperfusion in rat brains. *Neurol. Res.* 32(5):541-6.
- Thelen KM, Rentsch KM, Gutteck U, Heverin M, Olin M, Andersson U, von Eckardstein A, Björkhem I, Lütjohann D. 2006. Brain cholesterol synthesis in mice is affected by high dose of simvastatin but not of pravastatin. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 316(3):1146-52.
- Tosi F, Muggeo M, Brun E, Spiazzi G, Perobelli L, Zanolin E, Gori M, Coppini A, Moghetti P. 2003. Combination treatment with metformin and glibenclamide versus single-drug therapies in type 2 diabetes mellitus: a randomized, doubleblind, comparative study. *Metabolism*. 52(7):862-7.

- Towfighi A, Saver JL. 2011. Stroke declines from third to fourth leading cause of death in the United States: historical perspective and challenges ahead. *Stroke*. 42(8):2351-5.
- Tuttolomondo A, Pecoraro R, Di Raimondo D, Arnao V, Clemente G, Corte VD, Maida C, Simonetta I, Licata G, Pinto A. 2014. Stroke Subtypes and their Possible Implication in Stroke Prevention Drug Strategies. *Curr. Vasc. Pharmacol.* 11(6):824-37.
- Umemura K. 2005. Role of endogenous tPA in stroke. *Nihon Shinkei Seishin Yakurigaku Zasshi*. 25(4):183-8.
- Vellema M, Hertel M, Urbanus SL, Van der Linden A, Gahr M. 2014. Evaluating the predictive value of doublecortin as a marker for adult neurogenesis in canaries (Serinus canaria). J. Comp Neurol.522(6):1299-315.
- Warren JB. 2012. Antidepressants and the developing nervous system. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 73(1): 1–3.
- Windle V, Szymanska A, Granter-Button S, White C, Buist R, Peeling J, Corbett, D. 2006. An analysis of four different methods of producing focal cerebral ischemia with endothelin-1 in the rat. *Exp Neurol*. 201(2):324-34.
- Wolinski P, Glabinski A. 2013. Chemokines and Neurodegeneration in the Early Stage of Experimental Ischemic Stroke. *Mediators Inflamm*. 2013:727189.
- Wood WG, Eckert GP, Igbavboa U, Muller WE. 2010. Statins and neuroprotection: a prescription to move the field forward. *Ann. N Y Acad. Sci.* 1199:69–76.
- Wu H, Lu D, Jiang H, Jiang H, Xiong Y, Qu C, Li B, Mahmood A, Zhou D, Chopp M. 2008. Simvastatin-mediated upregulation of VEGF and BDNF, activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway, and increase of neurogenesis are associated with therapeutic improvement after traumatic brain injury. *J Neurotrauma*. 25(2):130-139.
- Yang D, Han Y, Zhang J, Chopp M, Seyfried DM. 2012. Statins Enhance Expression of Growth Factors and Activate the PI3K/Akt-mediated Signaling Pathway after Experimental Intracerebral Hemorrhage. World J. Neurosci. 2(2):74-80.
- Yepes M, Roussel BD, Ali C, Vivien D. 2009. Tissue-type plasminogen activator in the ischemic brain: more than a thrombolytic. *Trends Neurosci.* 32(1):48-55.
- Yepes M, Sandkvist M, Moore EG, Bugge TH, Strickland DK, Lawrence DA. 2003. Tissue-type plasminogen activator induces opening of the blood-brain barrier via the LDL receptor-related protein. J. Clin. Invest. 112(10):1533-40.

- Zhang L, Zhang ZG, Chopp M. 2012. The neurovascular unit and combination treatment strategies for stroke. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 33(8):415-22.
- Zhang ZG, Zhang L, Jiang Q, Zhang R, Davies K, Powers C, van Bruggen N, Chopp M. 2000. VEGF enhances angiogenesis and promotes blood-brain barrier leakage in the ischemic brain. J Clin Invest. 106(7): 829–838.
- Zhao BQ, Ikeda Y, Ihara H, Urano T, Fan W, Mikawa S, Suzuki Y, Kondo K, Sato K, Nagai N, Umemura K. 2004. Essential role of endogenous tissue plasminogen activator through matrix metalloproteinase 9 induction and expression on heparinproduced cerebral hemorrhage after cerebral ischemia in mice. *Blood*. 103(7):2610-6.
- Zhu BG, Sun Y, Sun ZQ, Yang G, Zhou CH, Zhu RS. 2012. Optimal dosages of fluoxetine in the treatment of hypoxic brain injury induced by 3-nitropropionic acid: implications for the adjunctive treatment of patients after acute ischemic stroke. CNS Neurosci. Ther. 18(7):530-5.
- Zhu M, Wang J, Liu M, Du D, Xia C, Shen L, Zhu D. 2012. Upregulation of protein phosphatase 2A and NR3A-pleiotropic effect of simvastatin on ischemic stroke rats. *PLoS One*. 7(12):e51552.
- Zivin JA. 2009. Acute stroke therapy with tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) since it was approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA). *Ann. Neurol.* 66(1):6-10.